

United States Government Accountability Office

Report to the Chairman, Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, Committee on Veterans' Affairs, House of Representatives

November 2014

VA HEALTH CARE

Improvements Needed in Monitoring Antidepressant Use for Major Depressive Disorder and in Increasing Accuracy of Suicide Data

GAO Highlights

Highlights of GAO-15-55, a report to the Chairman, Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, Committee on Veterans' Affairs, House of Representatives

Why GAO Did This Study

In 2013, VA estimated that about 1.5 million veterans required mental health care, including services for MDD. MDD is a debilitating mental illness related to reduced quality of life and productivity, and increased risk for suicide. VA also plays a role in suicide prevention. GAO was asked to review how VA tracks veterans prescribed antidepressants and what suicide data VA uses in its prevention efforts.

This report examines (1) VA's data on veterans with MDD, including those prescribed an antidepressant; (2) the extent that veterans with MDD who are prescribed antidepressants receive recommended care and the extent to which VA monitors such care; and (3) the quality of data VA requires VAMCs to collect on veteran suicides. GAO analyzed VA data, interviewed VA officials, and conducted site visits to six VAMCs selected based on geography and population served. From each of these six VAMCs, GAO also reviewed five randomly selected medical records for veterans diagnosed with MDD and prescribed an antidepressant in 2012, as well as all completed BHAP templates. The results cannot be generalized across VA but provide insights.

What GAO Recommends

GAO recommends that VA identify and address MDD coding discrepancies; implement processes to review data and assess deviations from recommended care; and implement processes to improve completeness, accuracy, and consistency of veteran suicide data. VA concurred with GAO's recommendations and described its plans to implement them.

View GAO-15-55. For more information, contact Randall B. Williamson at (202) 512-7114 or williamsonr@gao.gov.

VA HEALTH CARE

Improvements Needed in Monitoring Antidepressant Use for Major Depressive Disorder and in Increasing Accuracy of Suicide Data

What GAO Found

GAO's analysis of Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) data for fiscal years 2009 through 2013 shows that about 10 percent of veterans who received VA health care services were diagnosed with major depressive disorder (MDD). MDD is characterized by depressed mood or loss of interest along with other symptoms for 2 weeks or more that represent a change in the way individuals function from their previous behaviors. Because GAO found diagnostic coding discrepancies in 11 of the 30 veterans' medical records it reviewed from six VA medical centers (VAMC), VA's data may understate the prevalence of MDD among veterans being treated through VA, to the extent that such discrepancies may permeate VA's data. One treatment for MDD is the use of medications such as antidepressants. According to GAO's analysis, 94 percent of veterans diagnosed with MDD were prescribed at least one antidepressant.

VA policy states that antidepressant treatment must be consistent with VA's current clinical practice guideline (CPG); however, GAO's review of 30 veterans' medical records identified deviations from selected MDD CPG recommendations for most veterans reviewed. For example, 26 of the 30 veterans were not assessed using a standardized assessment tool at 4 to 6 weeks after initiation of treatment, as recommended in the CPG. Additionally, 10 veterans did not receive follow up within the time frame recommended in the CPG. GAO found that VA does not have a system-wide process in place to identify and fully assess whether the care provided is consistent with the CPG. As a result, VA does not know the extent to which veterans with MDD who have been prescribed antidepressants are receiving care as recommended in the CPG and whether appropriate actions are taken by VAMCs to mitigate potentially significant risks to veterans.

The demographic and clinical data that VA collects on veteran suicides were not always complete, accurate, or consistent. VA's Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) is a quality initiative to improve VA's suicide prevention efforts by identifying information that VA can use to develop policy and procedures to help prevent future suicides. The BHAP templates are a mechanism by which VA collects suicide data from VAMC's review of veteran medical records. GAO's review of 63 BHAP templates at five VAMCs found that 40 of the templates that VAMCs submitted to VA Central Office had incomplete data. Also, GAO found that the BHAP templates VAMCs submitted contained inaccurate data. For example, 6 BHAP templates included a date of death that was incorrect based on information in the veteran's medical record, and 9 BHAP templates included an incorrect number of outpatient VA mental health visits in the last 30 days. Moreover, GAO found that VAMCs submitted inconsistent information because they interpreted VA's guidance on completing the BHAP templates differently. This situation was further exacerbated because BHAP templates prepared by VAMCs are generally not being reviewed at any level within the Department for completeness, accuracy, and consistency. Lack of complete, accurate, and consistent data and poor oversight can inhibit VA's ability to identify, evaluate, and improve ways to better inform its suicide prevention efforts.

Contents

Letter		1
	Background	5
	VA Data Show That 10 Percent of Veterans Had MDD and Most Were Prescribed at Least One Antidepressant, but VA Data May Underestimate MDD Prevalence	11
	Not All Veterans in Our Review Received CPG-Recommended Care and VA Lacks Mechanisms to Determine Whether This Care Is Provided	17
	Demographic and Clinical Data VA Collects on Veteran Suicides Were Not Always Complete or Accurate, and VAMCs Applied	23
	Instructions for Gathering Suicide Data Differently Conclusions	23 36
	Recommendations for Executive Action	37
	Agency Comments	38
Appendix I	Scope and Methodology	40
Appendix II	Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Centers' Tracking of	
	Veterans at High Risk for Suicide	51
Appendix III	Department of Veterans Affairs' Use of Data Related to Suicides and Suicide Behavior	53
		00
Appendix IV	Comments from the Department of Veterans Affairs	56
Appendix V	GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments	60
Tables		
	Table 1: Characteristics of Veterans Who Received Health Care through the Department of Veterans Affairs and had a Diagnosis of Major Depressive Disorder, Fiscal Years 2009-2013	13

 Table 2: Number of Veterans in GAO's Sample Not Receiving Care As Recommended in the Clinical Practice Guideline (CPG) for Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) Table 3: Description of Department of Veterans Affairs and Department of Defense Data Files Used to Examine Characteristics of Veterans with Major Depressive 	18
Disorder for Fiscal Years 2009 through 2013 Table 4: Characteristics of Veterans Affairs Medical Centers (VAMC) and Community-Based Outpatient Clinics	41
Selected for GAO's Review	44
Figure 1: Number of Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Post-Mortem Chart Analysis Templates with Incomplete	
or Inaccurate Data	24
Figure 2: Excerpts of the Department of Veterans Affairs' (VA) Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Template in Which Selected VA Medical Centers Submitted	
Incomplete Data	27
Figure 3: Excerpts of the Department of Veterans Affairs' (VA) Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Template in Which Selected VA Medical Centers Submitted	
Inaccurate Data	31
Figure 4: Excerpts of the Department of Veterans Affairs' (VA)	

Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Template in

Which Selected VA Medical Centers Submitted

Inconsistent Data

34

Figures

Abbreviations

Behavioral Health Autopsy Program Behavioral Health Laboratory clinical practice guideline Department of Defense
Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers
and Clinics handbook
major depressive disorder
Office of Inspector General
Office of Mental Health Operations
Office of Mental Health Services
Patient Health Questionnaire
Suicide Prevention Application Network
Translating Initiatives for Depression into Effective Solutions
Department of Veterans Affairs Veterans Affairs medical center Veterans Integrated Service Network

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

U.S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE

441 G St. N.W. Washington, DC 20548

November 12, 2014

The Honorable Mike Coffman Chairman Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations Committee on Veterans' Affairs House of Representatives

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In 2013, the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) estimated that about 1.5 million veterans required mental health services, which VA provides in a variety of settings, including VA medical centers (VAMC), communitybased outpatient clinics, and residential treatment programs.¹ Mental health treatment includes services for depression—a mood disorder that causes a persistent feeling of sadness and loss of interest. One type of depression, major depressive disorder (MDD), is a particularly debilitating mental illness and is associated with reduced quality of life, reduced productivity, and increased risk for suicide. These negative effects underscore the importance of timely, evidence-based assessment for and treatment of MDD, which may include medications, such as antidepressants, psychotherapy, or a combination of both. Treatment of veterans with MDD can improve their occupational and social functioning and their overall well-being.

In addition to providing ongoing care to veterans with MDD, VA plays a role in suicide risk assessment and prevention among veterans. According to VA, about one-quarter of the 18 to 22 veterans who die by suicide each day were receiving care through VA.² Research has identified numerous risk factors for suicide among veterans, which include substance use disorder, physical impairments, previous suicide attempts, and depression. Additionally, life stressors, such as marital or financial problems, contribute to a veteran's risk of suicide.

¹For purposes of this report, references to VAMCs include the associated communitybased outpatient clinics.

²VA/Department of Defense (DOD) Assessment and Management of Risk for Suicide Working Group, *VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Assessment and Management of Patients at Risk for Suicide* (June 2013).

Given the debilitating effects of depression, VA's monitoring of veterans with MDD is critical to ensuring positive health outcomes. Additionally, the relatively high veteran suicide rate makes it important that VA effectively employs data related to suicides in its prevention efforts. You asked us to review how VA tracks and manages veterans prescribed antidepressants and what suicide data VA uses in its suicide prevention efforts. In this report, we examine

- 1. the data VA has on veterans with MDD, including the extent to which they were prescribed antidepressants;
- the extent to which veterans with MDD who are prescribed an antidepressant receive recommended care and the extent to which VA monitors such care; and
- 3. the information VA requires VAMCs to collect on veteran suicides.

To examine the data VA has on veterans with MDD, including the extent to which veterans were prescribed antidepressants, we analyzed national VA data from fiscal years 2009 through 2013 and interviewed VA officials.³ The data we analyzed included information on veterans' demographic characteristics, health care services, and medications provided through VA.⁴ We considered a veteran to have MDD if, in at least one fiscal year included in our review, the veteran had two or more outpatient encounters or at least one inpatient hospital stay associated with a diagnosis of MDD.⁵ To ensure the reliability of the data we analyzed, we interviewed VA Central Office officials, reviewed relevant documentation and veterans' medical records, and conducted electronic

³Data on whether veterans served during recent conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan came from DOD.

⁴The data include health care services and medications provided by non-VA providers but paid for by VA through its Non-VA Medical Care Program, formerly known as the Fee Basis Program. Non-VA medical care is the practice of paying for veterans' health care services outside of VA when VA medical facilities are not feasibly available.

⁵The definition of MDD as defined in the fourth edition of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* was effective for a majority of the time period that our study covers. According to the American Psychiatric Association, the core symptoms and duration of these symptoms to meet the definition of MDD have not changed from the fourth to fifth edition of the manual. American Psychiatric Association, *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th ed., Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR) (Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association, 2000).

testing to identify missing data and obvious errors.⁶ On the basis of these activities, we determined that the data we analyzed were sufficiently reliable for our purposes. We also conducted site visits to 6 of the 150 VAMCs selected for variation in complexity of health care services offered, geographic location, and number of veterans using mental health services. These six VAMCs were located in Canandaigua, New York; Gainesville, Florida; Iowa City, Iowa; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Phoenix, Arizona; and Reno, Nevada.⁷ At each site, we interviewed VAMC staff about the data maintained on veterans diagnosed with MDD. In addition, we reviewed a random, nongeneralizeable sample of medical records for five veterans treated at each of the six VAMCs for a total of 30 veterans. We selected veterans for review that were diagnosed with MDD and had a new treatment episode of an antidepressant in calendar year 2012. Starting with the initial encounter in 2012 that was associated with the new antidepressant prescription, we reviewed the medical records to determine if the diagnostic code entered for subsequent encounters was consistent with a diagnosis of MDD.

To analyze the extent to which VA monitors whether veterans with MDD who are prescribed an antidepressant receive care as recommended by VA's clinical practice guideline (CPG) for MDD, we reviewed VA policy documents and interviewed VA Central Office officials responsible for developing and implementing VA mental health policy.⁸ We identified the oversight processes VA has in place to monitor the recommendations in the CPG and assessed whether this oversight provides VA with adequate information to identify nonconformance with recommended practices, assess the risk, and address nonconformance, as appropriate. We selected three CPG recommendations for inclusion in our review that had

⁶Throughout the report, we use the phrase medical records to refer to electronic medical records.

⁷In contrast to the other site visits, which were completed in person, we completed the site visits to the VAMCs located in Gainesville, Florida, and Reno, Nevada, virtually through telephone interviews.

⁸The MDD CPG is formally known as the VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Major Depressive Disorder (May, 2009). The MDD CPG was issued by the joint VA/DOD Evidence-Based Practice Work Group in 2009. Formed in 1999 and composed of VA and DOD officials, the VA/DOD Evidence-Based Practice Work Group makes decisions about which CPGs for specific conditions will be developed and oversees their development. VA's Office of Mental Health Services is responsible for developing mental health policy and the Office of Mental Health Operations (OMHO) is responsible for implementing these policies.

among the highest strength of research evidence, were sufficiently specific to enable us to determine the extent to which VA providers were following the recommendation, and would not require clinical judgment to determine the extent to which VA providers were following the recommendation.⁹ To examine how the recommendations we selected were implemented, we reviewed the 30 medical records from our selected six VAMCs to assess the extent to which the antidepressant treatment-related care VAMCs provided was consistent with the CPG recommendations. We also interviewed VAMC officials regarding the care provided to veterans with MDD prescribed an antidepressant. Results from our 30 medical record reviews cannot be generalized to the VAMC visited or other VAMCs.

To analyze the information VA requires VAMCs to collect on veteran suicides, we reviewed VA policies, guidance, and documents related to VA's suicide prevention efforts to identify the data collected by VA staff on veteran suicides. We also interviewed VA Central Office and other officials responsible for VA's suicide prevention program. Additionally, through the site visits to six VAMCs, we obtained documents and interviewed officials regarding the collection of veteran suicide data and suicide prevention initiatives. We compared 63 data templates related to veteran suicides completed by VAMC staff as of the date of our site visits—or the date of our request for virtual site visits—to information included in the veterans' medical records and to templates we received from VA Central Office.¹⁰ We identified fields in the documents to review based on whether the field related to aspects of VA treatment—including treatment for mental health conditions—and the date of the veteran's death. We identified these fields because they did not require clinical

⁹The three recommendations related to monitoring veterans prescribed antidepressants from the CPG that we judgmentally selected were (1) to enhance antidepressant treatment, veterans should be educated on when to take the medication, possible side effects, risks, and the expected duration of treatment; (2) standardized assessments of depressive symptoms should be used to monitor treatment response at 4-6 weeks after initiation of treatment, after each change in treatment, and periodically thereafter until full remission is achieved; and (3) a plan should be developed that addresses the duration of antidepressant treatment.

¹⁰The Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Post-Mortem Chart Analysis Template (BHAP template) is a mechanism by which VA Central Office collects veteran suicide data from VAMCs' review of veterans' medical records. One BHAP template had been completed as of the time of our site visit, but had not been received by VA Central Office; therefore, we did not include this template in our review.

	be generalized to the VAMCs we visited, but cannot be generalized to other VAMCs. We also interviewed relevant staff of the six Veterans Integrated Service Networks (VISN), or regional networks of care, for the sites we visited to obtain information on suicide prevention efforts in that VISN. ¹¹
	For more information on our scope and methodology, see appendix I.
	We conducted this performance audit from November 2013 to November 2014 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.
Background	VA provides care to veterans with mental health needs through its 150 VAMCs, which may include both specialty mental health care settings— including mental health clinics—and other settings that may provide mental health services but focus primarily on other types of care, such as primary care. VA has implemented a program to co-locate mental health care providers within primary care settings in an effort to promote effective treatment of common mental health conditions in the primary care environment while allowing mental health specialists to focus on veterans with more severe mental illnesses.
Care for Veterans with MDD	According to VA, the prevalence of MDD in primary care settings among veterans being treated through VA is higher than that among the general population. MDD is characterized by the presence of depressed mood or loss of interest or pleasure along with other symptoms for a period of at

judgment to assess. Results from our review of veteran suicide data can

¹¹Each VAMC is assigned to a single VISN.

least 2 weeks that represent a change in previous functioning.¹² VA has policies and guidance in place related to treating veterans with MDD. For example, the *Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics* handbook (Handbook), which defines VA's minimum clinical requirements for mental health services, requires that VA facilities provide evidence-based treatment through the administration of medication, when indicated, consistent with the MDD CPG.¹³ The CPG is guidance intended by VA to reduce current practice variation between clinicians and provide facilities with a structured framework to help improve patient outcomes.¹⁴

The MDD CPG provides evidence-based recommendations as guidance for clinicians who provide care for veterans with MDD.¹⁵ The MDD CPG includes approximately 200 recommendations to provide information and assist in decision making for clinicians who provide care for adults with MDD.¹⁶ For example, the CPG recommends that standardized assessments of depressive symptoms, such as the nine item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), should be used at the initial assessment of MDD symptoms, to monitor treatment response at 4-6 weeks after initiation of treatment, after each change in treatment, and periodically

¹⁴The CPG also states that it is intended to "identify outcome measures to support the development of practice-based evidence that can ultimately be used to improve the clinical guidelines."

¹⁵The CPG is based on a review of research outcomes available at the time of publication. Evidence-based care refers to approaches that have consistently been shown in controlled research to be effective for a particular condition or conditions.

¹⁶The CPG for MDD is organized into 22 main topics, such as "initial treatment" and "treatment response." Each main topic contains a number of action statements that relate to approximately 200 recommendations for the management of veterans with MDD.

¹²These symptoms include significant weight loss; insomnia or excessive sleeping; psychomotor agitation or retardation; fatigue or loss of energy; feelings of worthlessness or excessive or inappropriate guilt; diminished ability to think or concentrate, or indecisiveness; and recurrent thoughts of death, recurrent suicidal ideation without a specific plan, or a suicide attempt or a specific plan for committing suicide. American Psychiatric Association, *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th ed. (Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

¹³Veterans Health Administration Handbook 1160.01, *Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics* (Sept. 11, 2008). The Handbook also requires that VAMCs provide evidence-based psychotherapy, such as Cognitive Behavioral Therapy, to veterans when appropriate. However, these services fall outside the scope of our review.

thereafter until full remission is achieved. ¹⁷ Evidence shows that follow-up assessment is effective 4-6 weeks after initiation of treatment, making timely follow-up visits an important part of clinicians' ability to assess whether the current treatment plan is effective or should be modified. According to the MDD CPG, veterans with MDD treated with antidepressants should be closely observed, particularly at the beginning of treatment and following dosage changes, to maximize veterans' recovery and to mitigate any negative treatment effects, including worsening of depressive symptoms. The CPG should not take the place of the clinician's clinical judgment.
 Beginning in June 2006, VA implemented several initiatives aimed at suicide prevention, including appointing a National Suicide Prevention Coordinator, developing data systems to increase understanding of suicide among veterans and inform VA suicide prevention programs, and instituting suicide prevention programs in VAMCs throughout the country. Additionally, VA Central Office established the Center of Excellence for Suicide Prevention and the Veterans Crisis Line in 2007. The Center of Excellence collects VA suicide prevention program data, which provides information on veteran suicide completions and suicide attempts for veterans receiving VA care, as well as those veterans not receiving VA care. VA's Veterans Crisis Line provides toll-free, confidential support 24 hours per day for veterans, their families, and their friends through phone, online chat, or text message.¹⁸ In fiscal year 2013, the Veterans Crisis Line fielded approximately 287,000 calls, 54,800 online chats, and 11,300 text messages.
 responsibilities include establishing and maintaining a list of veterans assessed to be at high risk for suicide; ¹⁷The PHQ-9 is a diagnostic tool, which uses the nine MDD diagnosis symptoms as criteria to help clinicians make a criteria-based diagnosis of depressive disorders and

¹⁸The Veterans Crisis line can be reached by calling 1-800-273-8255 and pressing 1, online at www.VeteransCrisisLine.net, or sending a text message to 838255.

- monitoring these high-risk veterans;
- responding to referrals from staff and the Veterans Crisis Line;
- collaborating with community organizations and partners;
- training staff members who have contact with veterans at the VAMC, community organizations, and partners; and
- collecting and reporting information on veterans who die by suicide and who attempt suicide.

See appendix II for more information on VAMCs' tracking of veterans at high risk for suicide.

VA Suicide Data

VA Central Office uses several mechanisms to collect data on veteran suicides to help improve its suicide prevention efforts. One such mechanism includes data submitted by suicide prevention coordinators at VAMCs on known veterans who die by suicide.¹⁹ Beginning in December 2012, VA Central Office began a national initiative to collect demographic, clinical, and other related information on veteran suicides as a quality improvement initiative to improve its suicide prevention efforts by identifying information that can be used by VA Central Office to develop policy and procedures to help prevent future veteran deaths.²⁰ This initiative, the Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP), replaced previous VA Central Office officials explained that they transitioned to the BHAP initiative to collect more systematic and comprehensive information about suicides, to incorporate interviews of family members of those who die by suicide, and to collect more contextual information.

¹⁹Veteran suicide data is submitted by VAMCs to VA's Center of Excellence for Suicide Prevention located in VISN 2. The Center of Excellence was created by VA Central Office, and for the purposes of our report, we refer to the Center of Excellence as part of VA Central Office.

²⁰As part of this initiative, VA collects veterans' demographic data, such as date of birth, date of death, race, ethnicity, and gender. VA also collects clinical data, such as the date of the veteran's final VA visit, whether the final visit was outpatient or inpatient, and the results of mental health screens, including depression screens.

²¹Prior to BHAPs, VA Central Office required suicide prevention coordinators to complete a review for suicide completions and attempts that identified, for example, the contributing factors for the event. Suicide prevention coordinators would then complete an aggregate analysis of all reported veteran suicides.

According to VA, the BHAP quality initiative has been adapted from a traditional psychological autopsy research framework that emphasizes the importance of information from outside sources as well as from those within the health care setting. The BHAP initiative is being implemented by VA in four phases:

- Phase 1—Standardized chart reviews: VAMCs' suicide prevention coordinators are required to complete standardized chart reviews for all veterans' suicides known to VAMC staff and reported on or after October 1, 2012.22 These reviews include specific information on a veteran's utilization of VA health care services, as well as a veteran's mental health diagnoses and risk factors for suicide. VA Central Office has instructed suicide prevention coordinators to use all available information, including VA medical records and information from a veteran's family members to complete the chart review. These reviews are submitted to VA Central Office through completion of a BHAP Post-Mortem Chart Analysis Template (BHAP template) and VA Central Office has provided suicide prevention coordinators with a BHAP Guide on how to complete the fields in the BHAP template. VA Central Office requires VAMCs to submit the BHAP template within 30 days of VAMC staff becoming aware of a veteran's death by suicide.
- Phase 2—Interviews with family members: In fiscal year 2013, VA Central Office began conducting interviews with family members of veterans who have died by suicide to obtain information on suicide risks, barriers to care, and suggestions for new programs to prevent suicide.²³

²²VAMCs can also submit reviews for veterans who did not utilize VA health care services. Veterans not being seen within the VA will not have clinical information available in VA's medical records, but VAMCs can report information that is known through other mechanisms, such as a coroner's report or the veteran's family members, if available. According to VA, a comprehensive suicide prevention program requires timely and accurate information beyond that acquired from veterans being seen in VA. Data on these veterans are needed to, among other things, improve understanding of suicide among all veterans.

²³Suicide prevention coordinators are responsible for asking family members if they are interested in participating in an interview. According to VA Central Office officials, a social worker at VA's Center of Excellence for Suicide Prevention conducts the family interview and multiple participants may be included in the interview.

- Phase 3—Clinician questionnaire: This phase, which has not yet been implemented, will include an interview with the last provider that saw the veteran prior to his or her death. VA officials stated that there are no plans to begin this phase within calendar year 2014, and they have not established a future time table for implementing this phase.
- Phase 4—Public record review: This phase, which has also not been implemented, will be used to locate public records to identify stressors in the veteran's life, such as a bankruptcy or divorce. Officials stated that there are no plans to begin this phase within calendar year 2014, and they have not established a future time table for implementing this phase.

Since beginning the BHAP initiative, VA Central Office has internally issued two interim reports on data and trends from the submitted BHAP templates as part of Phase 1. The reports include information for veterans who died by suicide, both with and without a history of VA health care service utilization. Analyses of data on demographic characteristics, case information, period of service, and risk and protective factors were included for all veterans. Data on clinical characteristics and indicators of increased risk at the time of the veteran's last contact with a VA provider were limited to veterans that utilized VA health care services.

In addition to the BHAP initiative, VA also requires VAMCs to collect and submit data on suicide attempts and completions through the following mechanisms.²⁴

• Suicide Prevention Application Network (SPAN): Through SPAN, VAMCs submit information to VA Central Office on the number of veterans that completed suicide, the number of suicide attempts, and indicators of suicide prevention efforts, such as outreach events conducted each month by suicide prevention coordinators.

²⁴VAMC officials may send additional information to VISN and VA officials through issue briefs, which document specific factual information regarding unusual incidents, such as deaths, disasters, or anything else that happens at a VAMC, such as a veteran suicide, that might generate media interest or affect care. VAMCs are also required to complete peer reviews for suicides that occur within 30 days of any clinical encounter with a VA clinician. Peer review for quality management is used when there is a need to determine whether a provider's actions associated with an adverse event were clinically appropriate—that is, whether another provider with similar expertise would have taken similar action.

	• Suicide behavior reports: VAMC clinicians must complete a suicide behavior report when they learn that a veteran attempted or completed suicide and add that report to the respective veteran's medical record. This report includes the date and time of the event, and other observations related to the suicide attempt or completed suicide. According to VA policy, information from suicide behavior reports is used for National Patient Safety reporting requirements and to populate SPAN.
	• Root cause analyses : Patient safety managers at VAMCs complete root cause analyses for suicide attempts and completed suicides under certain circumstances, such as when the attempt occurs at the VAMC during an inpatient stay or within 72 hours of being discharged from inpatient care. Root cause analyses are used to identify the factors that contributed to adverse events or close calls and any steps VAMCs could implement to prevent similar events in the future.
	See appendix III for how VAMC and VISN officials we interviewed told us they have utilized data related to suicides and suicide behavior.
VA Data Show That 10 Percent of Veterans Had MDD and Most Were Prescribed at Least One Antidepressant, but VA Data May Underestimate MDD	Data for fiscal years 2009 through 2013 show that about 10 percent of veterans who received health care services through VA were diagnosed with MDD, and of those, 94 percent were prescribed an antidepressant. However, due to diagnostic coding discrepancies we found in a sample of veterans' medical records, VA's data may not accurately reflect the prevalence of MDD among veterans.

Prevalence

VA Data Show About 10 Percent of Veterans Had a Diagnosis of MDD, and Almost All Were Prescribed at Least One Antidepressant

Based on our analysis of VA data from veterans' medical records and administrative sources, 532,222 veterans—about 10 percent of veterans who received health care services through VA²⁵—had a diagnosis of MDD from fiscal years 2009 through 2013. Among those veterans, the majority (60 percent) were 35 to 64 years of age. Most (86 percent) were not veterans of the recent conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan.²⁶ In addition, most of these veterans were male (87 percent) and the highest proportion was white (68 percent) and non-Hispanic (87 percent). See table 1 for a summary of characteristics of veterans who had a diagnosis of MDD from fiscal years 2009 through 2013.

²⁵This estimate is based on published Congressional Research Service data on the number of veterans who received health care services through VA from fiscal years 2009 through 2013 (roughly 5.5 million).

²⁶These conflicts include Operation Iraqi Freedom, Operation Enduring Freedom, and Operation New Dawn.

Table 1: Characteristics of Veterans Who Received Health Care through theDepartment of Veterans Affairs and had a Diagnosis of Major Depressive Disorder,Fiscal Years 2009-2013

	Number of veterans with major depressive disorder	Percentage of veterans with major depressive disorder
Age		
18-24	3,347	0.6
25-34	54,054	10.2
35-44	57,458	10.8
45-54	96,321	18.1
55-64	164,640	30.9
65-74	115,358	21.7
75+	41,044	7.7
Era of service		
Recent conflicts in Iraq & Afghanistar	າ ^a 75,934	14.3
All other eras	456,288	85.7
Sex		
Male	460,660	86.6
Female	71,562	13.5
Race		
White	361,921	68.0
Black	96,511	18.1
Asian & Pacific Islander	7,098	1.3
Native American	3,484	0.7
Other ^b	23,375	4.4
Not Identified	14,727	2.8
Missing Information	25,106	4.7
Ethnicity		
Non-Hispanic	465,448	87.5
Hispanic	38,577	7.3
Not Identified	14,438	2.7
Missing Information	13,759	2.6

Source: GAO analysis of Department of Veterans Affairs and Department of Defense data. | GAO-15-55

Notes: N=532,222 veterans. Percentages may not equal 100 due to rounding.

^aThese conflicts include Operation Iraqi Freedom, Operation Enduring Freedom, and Operation New Dawn.

^bThis category includes veterans who identified themselves as Hispanic or multiple race.

We also found that about 499,000 of the 532,222 (94 percent) veterans who had a diagnosis of MDD from fiscal years 2009 through 2013 were prescribed at least one antidepressant. Of those veterans, the majority (about 73 percent) were dispensed a 12-week supply of an antidepressant at the start of an MDD episode. Fewer veterans (about 58 percent) were dispensed a 6-month supply of an antidepressant over the course of their treatment. Receiving a 12-week supply of an antidepressant can be important for addressing depressive symptoms initially, while continued treatment after remission of depressive symptoms, such as receiving a 6-month supply of an antidepressant, is associated with a decreased risk of relapse, according to the CPG.

VA's Data May Not Fully Reflect the Extent to Which Veterans Have MDD Due to a Lack of Diagnostic Coding Precision by Clinicians

Based on our review of the documentation in 30 veterans' medical records from VA's medical record system, we found that over one-third (11) had diagnostic coding discrepancies. Specifically, these 11 veterans had at least one encounter where the clinician documented a diagnosis of MDD in the veteran's medical record, but the clinician did not code the encounter accordingly. Instead, the clinician coded the encounter as "depression not otherwise specified," a less specific code.²⁷ According to the fourth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, depression not otherwise specified is to be used to code disorders with depressive features that do not meet criteria for MDD and other depressive disorders,²⁸ or to indicate depressive symptoms about which there is inadequate or contradictory information.²⁹ VA's data on the number of veterans with MDD are based on the diagnostic codes associated with patient encounters, so the discrepancies we found indicate that the number of veterans with MDD is most likely not fully reflected in these data. Accurately identifying the veteran population with MDD is critical to assessing Department performance in treating veterans in accordance with the MDD CPG and measuring health outcomes for these veterans. VA Central Office reviewed the 11 medical records where we found coding discrepancies and agreed that the encounters were not

²⁷An encounter is a professional contact between a patient and a clinician in an outpatient or inpatient setting; a patient visit can consist of multiple encounters.

²⁸Other depressive disorders include dysthymic disorder, adjustment disorder with depressed mood, and adjustment disorder with mixed anxiety and depressed mood.

²⁹American Psychiatric Association: *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual*. Depression not otherwise specified is referred to in this edition as depressive disorder not otherwise specified.

coded accurately. According to a VA Central Office official, the encounters we identified were corrected in the veterans' medical record.

According to VHA Handbook 1907.03 - Health Information Management Clinical Coding Program Procedures, VAMCs are required to monitor the accuracy of coding and provide training as necessary in order to help ensure accurate coding. VAMC officials from all six sites in our review said that monthly or quarterly coding audits are conducted at their facilities and the findings of those audits are reviewed and action is taken to correct issues with the accuracy and reliability of coding. However, at five of the six VAMCs in our review, those audits focus on billable encounters-that is, encounters that are billed to a third party, such as private health insurance plans—in part because of the potential opportunity for facilities to collect third-party revenue from these encounters.³⁰ Among the 11 veterans' medical records where we identified coding discrepancies, all of the discrepancies were associated with outpatient, nonbillable encounters, the coding of which, according to a VA Central Office official, is not typically conducted by VAMC medical coders-staff who are trained specifically in medical coding terminology and standards and are responsible for coding inpatient admissions and discharges-or subject to coding audits.

Diagnostic coding in VA's medical record system for outpatient encounters is typically performed by clinicians. VISN officials and VA medical center clinicians we interviewed said that clinicians do not place a lot of importance on selecting a more precise diagnostic code because it does not significantly change the patient care that is provided or the type of treatment prescribed. In addition, in the interest of expediency, clinicians may select a previously used or frequently used diagnostic code for depression rather than take the time to search for a more precise code. For example, within the medical record, clinicians may access a list of previous or current diagnoses applicable to the veteran (commonly referred to as the "problem list") or a list of frequently used diagnostic codes in the facility. According to VISN and VAMC officials, the problem list is not typically kept up to date by clinicians and as a result, MDD may not be listed and readily available for clinicians to select. As a result of our

³⁰Officials at one VAMC in our review said that their facility conducts annual audits of nonbillable encounters, in part, to track the productivity of their providers and to maximize the amount of funding allocated to their facility by VA Central Office based on workload measures.

review, VA Central Office officials reported that they had discovered a software mapping error in VA's medical record system where the selection of MDD as a diagnosis when using a keyword search function may result in the selection of the depression not otherwise specified diagnostic code by mistake.³¹ Officials stated that they anticipate that the software error—which applies to all VAMCs—would be fixed by November 2014. Officials also stated that the solution would apply only to those encounters coded from that point going forward and would not retroactively correct any coding discrepancies that may have occurred before the error was addressed. VA Central Office officials could not tell us if any of the 11 coding discrepancies that we identified were a result of this software error.

Officials at most of the six VISNs we spoke with do not conduct reviews of medical coding done by clinicians. However, as a result of our inquiry, one VISN we interviewed reported in the late spring of 2014 that it had extracted data on MDD-related encounters and noticed the high use of depression not otherwise specified coding for the facilities within its VISN, as well as all VAMCs nationwide. Officials from this VISN said the lack of coding specificity has implications for being able to accurately examine health outcomes related to the treatment of depression and that they are planning to further analyze encounter data within their VISN to determine the appropriateness of diagnostic coding based upon medical record documentation. As of September 2014, the VISN had not reported any additional steps to address this issue.

³¹For example, according to a VA Central Office official, if the clinician used the keyword search function and searched under the word "major depression", "major depressive disorder" would be returned as a possible diagnosis choice for selection. Currently, as a result of the software mapping error, if this selection is made, the encounter would be coded as depression not otherwise specified.

Not All Veterans in Our Review Received CPG-Recommended Care and VA Lacks Mechanisms to Determine Whether This Care Is Provided	Based on the three CPG recommendations we selected, veterans in our review with MDD who have been prescribed antidepressants did not always receive care as recommended in the MDD CPG. Additionally, VA does not know the extent to which veterans with MDD who have been prescribed antidepressants are receiving care as recommended in the CPG, and VA Central Office has not developed mechanisms to determine the extent to which mental health care delivery conforms to the recommendations in the MDD CPG.
/eterans We Reviewed Did Not Always Receive Care As Recommended	We found that almost all of the 30 veterans with MDD who have been prescribed antidepressants included in our review did not receive care in accordance with the three MDD CPG recommendations we reviewed. VA policy states that antidepressant treatment must be consistent with VA's current, evidence-based CPG. ³² However, VA Central Office mental health officials were unable to tell us what it means to provide care that is consistent with the CPG, because, while a veteran's treatment should be informed by the CPG recommendations, determining the extent to which the treatment is consistent with CPG recommendations would need to be done on a veteran-by-veteran basis. The CPG is intended to reduce practice variation and help improve patient outcomes, but without an understanding of the extent to which veterans are receiving care that is consistent with the CPG, VA may be unable to ensure that it meets the intent of the CPG and improves veteran health outcomes.
	selected, we found examples of deviations from the CPG recommendations for almost all veterans in our review. ³³ Table 2 below depicts the specific recommendations we reviewed and the number of veterans that did not receive care consistent with the corresponding CPG recommendation.

³²Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics handbook.

³³We reviewed five medical records from each of the six VAMCs we selected to determine whether veterans at these VAMCs were receiving care consistent with select recommendations from the CPG.

Table 2: Number of Veterans in GAO's Sample Not Receiving Care As Recommended in the Clinical Practice Guideline (CPG) for Major Depressive Disorder (MDD)

CPG recommendation	Number of veterans not receiving care as recommended in the CPG for MDD
To enhance antidepressant treatment, veterans should be educated on when to take the medication, possible side effects, risks, and the expected duration of treatment, among other things	6 of 30 veterans lacked documentation of patient education when the medication was prescribed
Standardized assessments of depressive symptoms, such as the Patient Health Questionnaire-9, should be used to monitor treatment at 4-6 weeks after initiation of treatment and after each change in treatment	26 of 30 veterans were not assessed using a standardized assessment tool at 4-6 weeks after initiation of treatment
	18 of 30 veterans were not assessed using a standardized assessment tool at any encounter ^a
	10 of 30 veterans did not have a follow-up encounter that occurred 4-6 weeks after initiation of treatment ^b
A plan should be developed that addresses the duration of antidepressant treatment, among other things	1 veteran of 30 did not have a planned date for follow up and plan for future care documented in the veteran's medical record at the initial encounter

Source: GAO analysis of Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) data. | GAO-15-55

Note: We included 30 veterans in our review. Our review began with the encounter during which a VA clinician ordered an antidepressant to treat depressive symptoms (initial encounter) and five follow-up encounters with a VA clinician, or sooner if the veteran did not have five follow-up encounters. Our review was limited to encounters during which the antidepressant treatment was reviewed, including encounters during which side effects and treatment effect were assessed, but no change was made to medication orders.

^aOf the 30 veterans included in our review, only 6 were assessed using a standardized assessment at the initial encounter where antidepressant medication was prescribed. VA Central Office officials explained that they would expect a standardized assessment to be conducted at the start of an antidepressant to establish a baseline score.

^bThree veterans did not receive a follow-up appointment at all. Two veterans did not show for scheduled appointments that were within the CPG recommended time frame. Five veterans did not have a follow-up encounter until after 6 weeks.

For example, the CPG recommends that veterans' depressive symptoms be assessed at 4-6 weeks after initiation of antidepressant treatment to determine the efficacy of the treatment. However, medical records of 10 of the 30 veterans we reviewed indicated that they did not have a followup encounter within the CPG's recommended 4-6 week time frame. Of those 10 veterans,

- 3 veterans did not have any follow-up encounters related to mental health;
- 2 veterans did not show for scheduled appointments that were within the CPG recommended time frame; and

 5 veterans did not have a follow-up encounter until after 6 weeks. This follow up ranged from 7 weeks to 50 weeks after the initial encounter.³⁴

Some clinicians at VAMCs we visited described instances in which they generally do not follow the CPG recommendations.³⁵ For example, not all clinicians use a standardized assessment to evaluate a veteran's symptoms. Officials from two VAMCs we visited explained that they do not routinely use the PHQ-9. According to one of these VAMCs, the standard of care is a clinical interview and observation. However, the CPG recommendation states that the PHQ-9 combined with a clinical interview should be used to obtain the necessary information about symptoms and symptom severity. It also states that the PHQ-9 improves diagnostic accuracy and aids treatment decisions by quantifying symptom severity. Furthermore, clinicians may also prefer different time frames for follow up, which are not always consistent with the CPG recommendation. For example, one clinician told us that he tries to see the veteran 3 weeks after the initial appointment, and clinicians at another VAMC like to see the veteran within 6 weeks, but told us that this is sometimes difficult due to scheduling constraints.³⁶

³⁵As a result of our review, officials at one VAMC told us that they are developing plans to work with clinicians at the VAMC to implement measurement tools, including the PHQ-9.

³⁴Of these 5 veterans, 2 had treatment plans in the medical record that did not specify a time frame for follow up. One veteran returned in 7 weeks, as prescribed in the veteran's treatment plan. However, the remaining 2 veterans had a time frame in their treatment plan, but no explanation for why the follow-up encounter occurred outside this time frame. The first veteran's treatment plan instructed the veteran to return in 6 weeks; however, the veteran's follow-up encounter occurred approximately 12 weeks after the initial encounter. The second veteran's treatment plan instructed the veteran to return in 6-8 weeks, but the veteran was not seen until approximately 50 weeks after the initial encounter.

³⁶VA's Office of Inspector General (OIG) documented concerns about the timeliness of veterans' access to follow-up mental health care, which could affect the ability of veterans to receive follow-up with a clinician after beginning or changing antidepressant treatment. VA OIG, *Veterans Health Administration: Review of Veterans' Access to Mental Health Care* (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 23, 2012).

VA Lacks Mechanisms to Determine the Extent to Which Veterans Are Receiving Care Consistent with CPG Recommendations

VA does not know the extent to which veterans are receiving care consistent with the MDD CPG. While deviations from recommended practice may be appropriate in many cases due to clinician discretion, VA has not fully assessed whether these examples are acceptable deviations from the CPG. According to the federal internal control standard for risk assessment, agencies should comprehensively identify risks, assess the possible effects, if any, and determine what actions should be taken to mitigate any significant risks. VA Central Office has not developed a mechanism to fully identify deviations that could impede veterans' recovery that may result when VAMCs do not provide care consistent with the MDD CPG. VA Central Office officials explained that the CPG recommendations are guidelines that clinicians can use to inform and guide clinical decision making. VA officials told us that VA cannot require the use of all recommendations in all cases; rather, CPG recommendations should be applied on a case-by-case basis based on the needs of the veteran and with clinician judgment. One official also said it would be difficult to check every CPG recommendation to ensure that clinicians are providing care consistent with the CPG, but stated that VA could identify for review those recommendations that may put veterans' health at risk if not followed.³⁷ However, with no mechanism to assess whether the care provided is consistent with the CPG, VA is unable to ensure that deviations from recommended care are identified.

While monitoring full compliance with CPG recommendations may be difficult, there are nevertheless ways to address the issue. In fact, VA Central Office and some VAMCs have implemented mechanisms to determine the extent to which veterans are receiving care that is consistent with some of the CPG recommendations; however, these mechanisms do not fully assess all deviations that could impede a veteran's recovery, as illustrated by the following.

³⁷In a June 2014 report, the Institute of Medicine also raised concerns with VA clinicians' adherence to CPG recommendations. This report reviewed the *VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Post-Traumatic Stress* and stated that VA does not have a mechanism for the systematic collection and analysis of data for assessing the quality of care for post-traumatic stress disorder and that, as a result, VA often does not know whether veterans have received evidence-based treatments or whether these treatments are producing positive outcomes. The Institute of Medicine recommended that VA use evidence-based treatments as the treatment of choice for post-traumatic stress disorder, and these treatments should be delivered with fidelity to their established protocols. Institute of Medicine, *Treatment for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in Military and Veteran Populations Report Brief* (Washington, D.C.: June 2014).

In fiscal year 2014, VA began to review mental health care delivery at VAMCs through a psychopharmacology quality improvement initiative consisting of a series of prescribing practices metrics, although this initiative does not fully assess the extent to which care is consistent with the MDD CPG.³⁸ One metric—the proportion of veterans with depression prescribed three or more concurrent antidepressant medications for 60 or more continuous days-relates to 2 of the over 200 MDD CPG recommendations.³⁹ According to one VA Central Office official, the initial phase of the initiative is focused on decreasing variability in prescribing practices among VAMCs. To start the initiative, VA compiled metric profiles for each VAMC, which included a description of how each VAMC performed for all metrics as well as the performance of each VAMC relative to the VISN and national averages. VA requires that all VAMCs address metrics where performance was lower than the national average. Currently, VA is assisting VAMCs with developing action plans to address these metrics. Because the initiative is in the early stages, it is too soon to determine how VA Central Office and VAMCs will review and remedy deviations from the two CPG recommendations addressed by this

³⁹Specifically, these CPG recommendations state that veterans who are diagnosed with MDD should receive an initial trial of a single antidepressant, and that a second antidepressant medication may be considered for veterans who have had a partial response to treatment with one antidepressant. *VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Major Depressive Disorder* (May, 2009). Other antidepressant metrics include: the proportion of veterans with depression receiving medication from three or more of four psychotropic classes (including antidepressants) for 60 or more continuous days; the proportion of inpatient or outpatient initial visits for new MDD diagnosis with antidepressant receipt where there is no coverage for 84 days out of the first 114 days following the initial antidepressant fill; and the proportion of antidepressant prescriptions given with no medical or psychiatric indication. However, these metrics do not relate to specific recommendations in the CPG.

³⁸VA's OMHO developed the psychopharmacology initiative in fiscal year 2014. This initiative is intended to address four areas: (1) possible overprescribing, (2) possible problems in clinical management, (3) misalignment between prescribing and diagnosis, and (4) missed opportunities. The metrics generally assess all veterans with any depression diagnoses, such as depression not otherwise specified; only one metric is specific to MDD. VA Central Office officials explained that data for this initiative are pulled from clinical and administrative records, but that extracting data can be challenging because, for example, clinicians may not be recording data in an extractable field in the medical record. VA Central Office officials also told us that they collect data on the number of veterans who receive 12-week and 6-month supplies of antidepressant medication, which relates to a CPG recommendation stating that, for veterans who achieve remission with antidepressants, treatment should be continued at the same dose for an additional 6-12 months to decrease the risk of relapse. *VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Major Depressive Disorder* (May, 2009) pg. 73.

initiative. According to VA Central Office officials, the psychopharmacology quality improvement initiative is a mechanism VA currently has to look at CPG recommendations, and VA could add additional metrics addressing other CPG recommendations in the future. However, VA Central Office officials stated that other CPG recommendations would require a more in depth analysis, such as medical record reviews, and it would be difficult to develop metrics for some of the recommendations.⁴⁰

 While VA Central Office does not have a mechanism to determine the extent to which VAMCs are providing care consistent with a majority of the CPG recommendations, some VAMCs have implemented a software system to help ensure that veterans with MDD who are prescribed antidepressants receive care consistent with the CPG when the veteran is treated in a primary care clinic.⁴¹ At the time of our site visits, three of the VAMCs we visited were using such a system—the Behavioral Health Laboratory (BHL).⁴² The BHL is

⁴⁰VA also provides VAMCs data on the number of veterans screened annually using a standardized screening tool, a two item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-2) and the percentage of veterans who screen positive for depression and have a timely suicide behavior evaluation completed. These measures meet CPG recommendations for annual screening for MDD and evaluation of suicide risk with a positive depression screen. Another mechanism VA uses to assess mental health care at VAMCs is site visits conducted by VA's OMHO. During these site visits, OMHO assesses, for example, how the number of veterans screened annually for depression compares to the national average as well as any trends within the VAMC. According to OMHO, the purpose of these site visits is to assess mental health care at individual VAMCs, specifically implementation and adherence to VA standards for mental health services. Once OMHO has identified both exemplary areas and areas for growth, OMHO then works with the mental health lead at the corresponding VISN to develop a strategic action plan for the VAMC, which will be monitored for implementation progress on a quarterly basis. However, these site visits do not look at specific CPG recommendations.

⁴¹Officials at one VAMC we visited told us that they use a clinical tool to track veterans being treated for mental health conditions. The mental health tool includes 67,349 unique patients, and an official explained that they can run queries of the clinical tool—for example, for veterans participating in substance abuse treatment who did not return for a drug screen—by pulling both process and outcome variables including diagnostic codes, lab results, and medication lists.

⁴²VA policy states that VAMCs must have integrated mental health services that include co-located collaborative care and care management. Care management can be based on the BHL, Translating Initiatives for Depression into Effective Solutions (TIDES), or other evidence-based strategies approved by the Office of Mental Health Services. According to VA, TIDES facilitates collaboration between primary care clinicians and mental health specialists with support from a depression care manager, who, under the supervision of a mental health specialist, assists the primary care clinician in the assessment and ongoing management of depressed patients. designed to manage the behavioral health needs of veterans through telephone or in-person visits. As part of the system, clinicians can use a structured interview—including a PHQ-9—that assesses veterans' mental health symptoms in a way that is consistent with the CPG recommendation for follow-up assessment. Although the BHL can be used to help ensure care is provided consistent with a few of the recommendations in the CPG, the BHL is not used to monitor all veterans prescribed antidepressants. Generally, VAMCs use the BHL to monitor veterans being treated for mental health conditions, such as MDD, in primary care clinics, and to participate, veterans can be referred by their primary care clinician or request to participate.⁴³

Demographic and Clinical Data VA Collects on Veteran Suicides Were Not Always Complete or Accurate, and VAMCs Applied Instructions for Gathering Suicide Data Differently We found that demographic, clinical, and other data submitted to VA Central Office on veteran suicides were not always completely or correctly entered into the BHAP Post-Mortem Chart Analysis Templates a mechanism by which VA Central Office collects veteran suicide data from VAMCs' review of veterans' medical records. (Figure 1 shows the number of BHAP templates we found with incomplete or inaccurate data.) Moreover, VAMCs interpreted and applied instructions for completing the BHAP templates differently. We also found that most VAMCs and VISNs we reviewed and VA Central Office did not review suicide data for accuracy.

⁴³According to officials at one VAMC we visited, clinicians previously used pharmacy data on a weekly basis to determine whether there were any veterans with new antidepressant orders from primary care who were not referred to the BHL. Officials told us that they stopped running the weekly query, since they consistently found that all eligible veterans had been referred to the BHL. However, in advance of our site visit, officials ran the query again and noted that some veterans were not being referred to the BHL. As a result, they plan to resume completing the weekly queries.

Figure 1: Number of Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Post-Mortem Chart Analysis Templates with Incomplete or Inaccurate Data



Veteran Suicide Data Are Incomplete

We found that over half of the 63 BHAP templates we examined had incomplete information.⁴⁴ The data either lacked veteran enrollment information, or other specific fields were omitted. Moreover, the data were lacking entirely for certain known veteran suicides. Incomplete data limits VA Central Office's ability to identify information that can be used to help VA Central Office develop policy and procedures to prevent veteran deaths.

Lack of veteran enrollment information. Approximately one-third (23) of the BHAP templates we reviewed did not indicate whether the veteran was enrolled in VA health care services, even though the veteran had a VA medical record.⁴⁵

⁴⁴We analyzed BHAP templates from five of the VAMCs at the time of our site visit or at the time we requested the BHAP templates. One VAMC had not completed any BHAP templates at the time of our site visit because they did not have a veteran die by suicide since the beginning of the BHAP initiative. Therefore, our analysis does not include BHAP templates from this VAMC.

⁴⁵This field in the BHAP template states: "Is this case concerning a Veteran who was enrolled in VA Health Care Services?" For those veterans who were being seen in the VA, the box associated with this field should be checked.

- Eight did not indicate that the veteran had received VA services when the templates were submitted by three of the VAMCs in our review, even though these VAMCs provided care to these veterans.
- Fifteen BHAP templates submitted by two VAMCs in our review originally indicated that the veteran was receiving VA care; however, when we reviewed the submitted BHAP templates we received from VA Central Office for the same 15 veterans, the BHAP templates did not indicate that the veteran was being seen in the VA.⁴⁶

VA Central Office used enrollment information when compiling the most recent BHAP interim report, which is part of VA Central Office's quality improvement efforts for its suicide prevention program.⁴⁷ Specifically, VA Central Office included clinical data in the BHAP interim report only for veterans utilizing VA services. Therefore, clinical data for the 23 veterans we identified would not be included in the interim report. Missing one-third of the data from its analysis, as was the case in our sample, could have a detrimental effect on the trends VA Central Office reports and uses to improve its suicide prevention efforts.

Requested data was omitted. Forty of the 63 BHAP templates we reviewed included various data fields where no response was provided, resulting in incomplete data. For example, for 19 templates, VAMC staff did not enter requested data as to whether the veteran had all or some of 15 active psychiatric symptoms within 12 months prior to the veteran's date of death.⁴⁸ Also, 9 templates did not include an answer for the number of previous suicide attempts by the veteran. Officials from one VAMC told us that they left this field blank if the veteran did not have any previous suicide attempts, rather than entering a "0," even though the

⁴⁶VA Central Office officials stated that this field could have become unchecked prior to submission of the template to Central Office, but that it was not the result of a programming error. For example, the box may have become unchecked after the VAMC official saved the template to a local location, but prior to the VAMC submitting the template to VA Central Office.

⁴⁷According to one VA Central Office official, for the first interim report, officials matched veterans from the BHAP templates to medical record information to determine whether the veteran was receiving VA health care services.

⁴⁸The 15 psychiatric symptoms in the BHAP template are isolation, anxiety, depressed mood, ruminations, suicidal ideation, sleep problems, intrusive memories, drug seeking behaviors, flashbacks, guilt/remorse, hallucinations, command suicide hallucination, alcohol withdrawal, agitation, and impulsivity.

BHAP Guide states that officials should enter the appropriate number of previous suicide attempts. Officials at one VAMC told us that fields are sometimes left blank if the standardized answers available on the BHAP template are not adequate; that is, the answer for that veteran does not fit into one of the answers provided on the BHAP template.⁴⁹ Officials at two VAMCs stated that it is sometimes easy to overlook fields in the BHAP template, resulting in unanswered questions.

Filling in all fields in the BHAP template, rather than leaving the field blank, is important because some blank fields are counted as "missing" or "no" in the analysis conducted by VA Central Office for the BHAP interim reports. This, in turn, could affect the suicide trends reported. For example, for the number of previous suicide attempts, blank fields are counted as "missing" in the BHAP interim report, rather than "0" previous suicide attempts as officials from one VAMC intended. In other cases, such as for psychiatric symptoms, missing fields are counted as "no," meaning that the veteran did not have these symptoms. In at least one BHAP template, the answer for the psychiatric symptom of isolation was left blank, and would therefore be counted as negative in the interim report despite the fact that officials from the one VAMC told us that the veteran did have this symptom. See figure 2, which provides an excerpt of the fields from the BHAP template in which VAMCs provided incomplete data.

⁴⁹For example, the template answers for psychiatric symptoms originally included "yes" and "no." The template has been updated to also include "unknown," but this answer was not an option for all templates in our review. However, officials at two VAMCs provided us with the answers for fields that were left blank, including the fields for psychiatric symptoms.

Figure 2: Excerpts of the Department of Veterans Affairs' (VA) Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Template in Which Selected VA Medical Centers Submitted Incomplete Data

Behavioral Health Autopsy Program Post-Mortem Chart Analysis	
Case ID	
Investigating Clinician:	
Is the Case concerning a Veteran who <u>WAS</u> enrolled in VA Health Care Services? \Box	This box should be checked to indicate whether the veteran was enrolled in VA
Data Sources: Means of Completed Suicide: Select CPRS □, Death Certificate □ Does the medical record show that the Veteran called the Does the medical record show that the Veteran called the Crisis Line in the past year? Check if 'Yes' - □ Other □ Crisis Line in the past year? Check if 'Yes' - □	health care services.
<u>Demographics</u>	
Date of Birth: Date of Death:	The corresponding bubble should be filled in to indicate active symptoms the vetera may
Prominent Psychiatric Symptoms:	have experienced anytime within 12 months prior to the date of death. ^a
Isolation Yes C , No C , Unknown C	
Anxiety Yes C, No C, Unknown C	
Depressed Mood Yes C, No C, Unknown C	
RuminationsYes C, No C, Unknown C	
Suicidal IdeationYes C, No C, Unknown C	
Sleep Problems Yes C, No C, Unknown C	- M.
Intrusive MemoriesYes C, No C, Unknown C	This box should contain the number of
Drug seeking BehaviorsYes C , No C , Unknown C	previous suicide attempts, as indicated in the
FlashbacksYes C , No C , Unknown C	veteran's electronic medical record.
Guilt/RemorseYes C , No C , Unknown C	
HallucinationsYes C , No C , Unknown C	
Command Suicide HallucinationYes ○ , No ○ , Unknown ○	
Alcohol WithdrawalYes C , No C , Unknown C	
Agitation Yes O, No O, Unknown O	
ImpulsivityYes C , No C , Unknown C	
Potential Suicide Risk Factors	
Number of Previous Suicide Attempts: Family History of Suicide? Select	
Public Lin	
Pain? Select	
Active Pain Medications?: Yes C, No C	
Compliance with Prescribed Psych Meds: Select	
$\overline{}$	

Source: GAO analysis of VA documents. | GAO-15-55

^aThe BHAP template has changed over time and "unknown" has not always been an option in this section of the BHAP template.

	Data were lacking entirely for certain known veteran suicides . We found that VAMCs did not always submit BHAP templates for all veteran suicides known to the facility, as required by the BHAP Guide. VA Central Office does not have a process in place to determine whether it is receiving the BHAP templates for all known veteran suicides. ⁵⁰ For example, one VAMC had completed 13 BHAP templates at the time of our site visit but had not submitted them; however, neither the VAMC nor VA Central Office were aware that these templates had not been submitted until after we requested them from VA Central Office. The suicide prevention coordinator at this VAMC told us that the BHAP templates were forwarded to another official at the VAMC, rather than being submitted through VA Central Office. In another example, officials at a different VAMC told us that, at the time of our site visit, they had recently begun completing and submitting BHAP templates, beginning with veteran suicides occurring in fiscal year 2014. VA Central Office officials told us that VAMCs can start submitting BHAP templates at any point, and officials are not requiring the VAMCs should submit BHAP templates for all suicides known to the facility and reported on or after October 1, 2012.
Veteran Suicide Data Are Inaccurate	Of the 63 BHAP templates we reviewed, we found numerous instances of inaccurate data submitted on BHAP templates, as illustrated by the following examples.
	 Incorrect date of death: Six BHAP templates included a date of death that was incorrect based on information in the veteran's medical

⁵⁰One VA Central Office official told us that for the first BHAP interim report, officials matched the number of suicide behavior reports to the number of BHAP templates using the veterans' social security numbers to determine that a BHAP template was submitted for each completed suicide behavior report. According to VA Central Office officials, this process was not conducted for the most recent BHAP interim report.

record.⁵¹ The difference in the dates of death in the veterans' medical records and the dates of death in the BHAP templates ranged from 1 day to 1 year. For example, one BHAP template indicated that the veteran died in the year after the veteran's actual date of death. Another BHAP template appeared to use the date the suicide behavior report was completed, rather than the veteran's actual date of death. The suicide behavior report was completed 69 days after the veteran's date of death.⁵² The accuracy of the date of death recorded in the BHAP template is important because it is used as a point of reference to calculate other fields, such as the number of mental health visits in the last 30 days.

Incorrect number of mental health visits: Nine BHAP templates included the incorrect number of outpatient VA mental health visits in the last 30 days.⁵³ For example, one BHAP template indicated that the veteran had five outpatient mental health visits, including three non-mental health visits that should not have been included in the total number of mental health visits for this veteran. Another BHAP template indicated the veteran had been seen once by a mental health provider in the last 30 days; however, we found in reviewing the medical records that this veteran had not been seen by a mental health provider during this time period. This veteran would be included in the BHAP interim report as having a mental health visit, and, as a result, VA's data would include an inaccurate count of the number of veterans with mental health visits in the last 30 days.⁵⁴ Without accurate information, VA cannot use this information to determine whether policies or procedures need to be changed to ensure that

⁵¹We could not confirm date of death for two BHAP templates because the veterans' medical records did not contain a date of death. When confirming the lack of date of death in the medical records with the VAMC, officials stated that they took the date of death for one of the templates from the suicide behavior report. However, we did not find a suicide behavior report in the veteran's medical record.

⁵²Two BHAP templates had dates of death that were 1 day off, one BHAP template was off by 3 days, and one BHAP template had a date of death off by 5 days.

⁵³Although the BHAP template asks for the number of mental health visits, VA Central Office officials told us that they expect VAMCs to report mental health encounters, rather than visits. An encounter is a professional contact between a patient and a clinician in an outpatient or inpatient setting; a patient visit can consist of multiple encounters.

⁵⁴According to VA Central Office officials, missing information in this field is treated as "0" in the interim report.

veterans at high risk for suicide are being seen more frequently by a mental health provider to help prevent suicides in the future.

See figure 3, which provides an excerpt of the fields from the BHAP template in which VAMCs provided inaccurate data.

Figure 3: Excerpts of the Department of Veterans Affairs' (VA) Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Template in Which Selected VA Medical Centers Submitted Inaccurate Data

Behavioral Health Autopsy Program Post-Mortem Chart Analysis		
Case ID		
Investigating Clinician:		
Is the Case concerning a Veteran who <u>WAS</u> enrolled in VA Health Care Services?		
Data Sources: Means of Completed Suicide: Select CPRS □, Death Certificate □ Means of Completed Suicide: Select Family Report □ Does the medical record show that the Veteran called the Other □ Crisis Line in the past year? Check if 'Yes' - □		
Date of Birth: Date of Death:	*1	This field should include the month, date, and year of the veteran's death.
Health Care		
Multiple Failures to Show: check if 'yes' -	×	This field indicates the total number of outpatient mental health visits in the last 30
Number of <u>Inpatient</u> VA MH <u>Bed Days</u> in Last 30 days?		days.
Number of Outpatient VA MH visits in Last 30 days?		
Used Vet Center Services in Past Year? Select		
Non-VA Care in Past Year? Select		
Participated in a VAMH Residential Rehabilitation Treatment Program in the Past Year ? Select		
Date of Final Visit: Type of Final Visit: Select		
Was the Final Visit: Inpatient C Outpatient C If Not Followed by Mental Health, was there a Psychiatrist Referral? Select		
<u>Mental Status Exam at Last MH Visit</u> :		
Do you wish to Enter Comments?(Check to do so.) □		
Date of Last Contact:		
Type of Last Contact : In-person ⊂ , Phone ⊂ , email, or text, or chat ⊂		

Source: GAO analysis of VA documents. | GAO-15-55
VAMCs Have Interpreted and Applied Instructions for Completing the BHAP Templates Differently

We found several situations where VAMCs interpreted and applied instructions for completing the BHAP templates differently, as illustrated in the following examples.⁵⁵

- We found inconsistencies in how different VAMCs arrived at answers provided in the BHAP templates. For example, one VAMC included a visit to an immunization clinic as the veteran's final visit, while another VAMC did not include this type of visit, even though this was the last time the veteran was seen in person. The BHAP Guide indicates that the final visit should be the last time the veteran had in-person contact with any VAMC staff, but the BHAP Guide does not identify the different types of visits that should be counted.⁵⁶ VA Central Office officials stated that a visit to an immunization clinic should be included as the final visit with the veteran. When VAMCs do not provide consistent data, VA Central Office will receive and use inconsistent data in preparing its trend reports, such as BHAP interim reports, which are intended to be used to improve suicide prevention efforts.
- We also found instances in which BHAP templates included information that did not conform to the instructions in the BHAP Guide on how to complete the BHAP medical record reviews.
 - Last contact did not always represent the last time a VAMC official spoke with the veteran: The BHAP Guide instructions specify that the last contact recorded in the BHAP template should be the last recorded interaction with the veteran, which could be in person, through a phone call, or through email. Five of the 63 BHAP templates we reviewed did not indicate the last time an official spoke directly to the veteran. One BHAP template counted a phone call with a veteran's spouse after the veteran's death as the last contact with the veteran. The BHAP template also counted this phone conversation as an "in-person" interaction. The remaining four BHAP templates included a date for the last contact that was prior to the date for the veteran's final in-person visit at the VAMC. In these instances, the veterans' in-person visit

⁵⁵The BHAP Guide can be used as a reference when completing the BHAP template because the BHAP Guide contains specific time frames for some of the fields, several of which are not outlined in the BHAP template.

⁵⁶The BHAP Guide states that the final visit could include a mental health or a dental visit, but does not specify if a visit to an immunization clinic should be counted. The BHAP template includes a field for type of visit. One option as an answer for this field is "other," and the type of visit can be included in a text box in the template.

should have been counted as the last contact. From this flawed information, VA would not be able to determine reliable trends for the amount of time between the last contact with the veteran and the veteran's date of death for reports that it prepares, such as the BHAP interim report.

Suicide prevention coordinator contact and referral not within BHAP time period: The BHAP Guide specifies that VAMCs should indicate in the BHAP template whether there was a suicide prevention coordinator contact or referral made within 3 months prior to the veteran's date of death. In 3 of the 63 cases we reviewed, we found that the suicide prevention coordinators checked the box indicating that they saw the veteran or had a referral within 3 months of the veteran's death. However, in each of these cases we found that the contact was made more than 3 months prior to the veteran's death, so it should not have been counted. A suicide prevention coordinator from one VAMC said she was unaware of the time period requirement and a suicide prevention coordinator at another VAMC stated that time frames should be added to the BHAP template, rather than just included in the BHAP Guide. The BHAP interim reports include the number of veterans that had a suicide prevention coordinator contact or referral, and by including information on contacts or referrals that are outside the BHAP Guide time frame, these reports may be at risk of misreporting trends in this area.

See figure 4, which provides an excerpt of the fields from the BHAP template in which VAMCs provided inconsistent data.

Figure 4: Excerpts of the Department of Veterans Affairs' (VA) Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) Template in Which Selected VA Medical Centers Submitted Inconsistent Data

Behavioral Health Autopsy Program Post-Mortem Chart Analysis		
Case ID:		
Health Care		
Multiple Failures to Show: check if 'yes' -		
Number of Inpatient VA MH Bed Days in Last 30 days?		
Number of Outpatient VA MH visits in Last 30 days?		
Used Vet Center Services in Past Year? Select		
Non-VA Care in Past Year? Select		
Participated in a VAMH Residential Rehabilitation Treatment Program in the Past Year ? Select Date of Final Visit: Image: Select Was the Final Visit: Inpatient C, Outpatient C If Not Followed by Mental Health, was there a Psychiatrist Referral? Select	*	The final visit should include the last time the veteran had in-person contact with VA staff.
Mental Status Exam at Last MH Visit: □ Do you wish to Enter Comments?(Check to do so.) □ Date of Last Contact: □ Type of Last Contact: □ Type of Last Contact: □	莽	The date of last contact should be the last recorded personal interaction with the veteran, including in-person visits, phone calls, or contact via email.
SPC Contact/Referral? Check if 'yes'	₩	The BHAP Guide indicates that this field should include referrals within 3 months of the date of death; however, this time frame is not specified in the BHAP template.

Source: GAO analysis of VA documents. | GAO-15-55

VA policy and guidance states that the BHAP template should be completed for all suicides known to the facility, but at the five VAMCs we visited, these data were not always being reported.⁵⁷ However, the policy

⁵⁷VA Central Office has provided policy on the BHAP template through a memorandum and has also provided suicide prevention coordinators with a BHAP Guide, which explains how to fill out the BHAP template.

	and instructions do not explicitly state that veterans not being seen by VA should be included, and in the absence of this declaration, some VAMCs interpreted the instructions to mean that only veterans being seen by VA should be included in the data submitted. Therefore, two VAMCs have submitted data only for veterans being treated by VA, while the others include data on all known veteran suicides—whether they have been treated by VA or not. This further adds to the inconsistencies in the information that VAMCs submit on the BHAP templates. VA Central Office officials told us that BHAP templates should be completed for both veterans utilizing VA health care services, as well as those veterans not being seen in the VA, and that this requirement has been discussed at training sessions and during conference calls with suicide prevention coordinators. For example, during a suicide prevention conference in November 2013, a VA Central Office official informed participants that the BHAP template should be completed for all suicides reported through SPAN, which VA Central Office officials previously told us includes veterans that were not receiving VA care. The inconsistency in VAMC officials' understanding of which veterans should have a completed BHAP template results in inconsistent data being reported to VA Central Office. While VA was in the process of updating its suicide prevention coordinator manual, we brought this issue to VA's attention. In August 2014, VA made modifications to the manual that indicated that VA is changing its policy—now requiring that the BHAP template should be completed only for veterans receiving VA services. However, the guidance continues to be unclear on whether suicide prevention coordinators should complete BHAP templates for veterans not receiving VA care. ⁵⁶
VAMCs, VISNs, and VA Central Office Do Not Review Suicide Data	We found that BHAP templates are not being reviewed by VA officials at any level for accuracy, completeness, and consistency. Therefore, our findings at five VAMCs could be symptomatic nationwide and other VAMCs may also be submitting incomplete, inaccurate, and inconsistent suicide-related information and VA may not be getting the data it needs across the Department to make appropriate resource decisions and develop new policy. VA policy states that it is the VISN's and VAMC's decision whether to conduct reviews of BHAP data prior to submission to

⁵⁸In its comments on a draft of this report, VA stated that in September 2014 it provided guidance to VAMCs to complete BHAP templates for veterans not receiving VA services.

VA Central Office. With few exceptions, VAMCs and VISNs we visited generally do not conduct data checks on the information submitted in the BHAP templates. Additionally, VA Central Office does not review the information for accuracy and completeness in the BHAP templates it receives. This approach is inconsistent with internal control standards for the federal government, which state that agencies should have controls over information processes, including procedures and standards to ensure the completeness and accuracy of processed data.⁵⁹

Officials at one VAMC told us that VAMC staff compare the BHAP data and the veteran's medical record prior to submitting the BHAP template to VA Central Office to ensure accuracy. In response to our review, another VAMC implemented a procedure to check the accuracy and completeness of their BHAP templates prior to submission. The procedure at this VAMC requires the suicide prevention coordinator and case manager to independently complete the BHAP template and compare their responses. The BHAP templates are then reviewed by the Assistant Mental Health Clinic Director prior to submission.

We also found that VA lacks sufficient controls to ensure the quality of the existing BHAP data. For example, VA Central Office officials said there are no automated data checks to ensure the accuracy of data it uses for the BHAP interim report, such as checking to ensure that the date of last contact with the veteran that is recorded in the BHAP template is not after the veteran's date of death. Although officials removed apparent duplicates in submitted BHAP templates by matching the veteran's name and social security number while compiling the data for the most recent BHAP interim report, they do not conduct data checks to help identify some of the incomplete or inaccurate data we found in our review.

Conclusions

Given the negative effects of MDD, it is important to provide timely, evidence-based treatment for veterans with MDD, and VA's ability to monitor these veterans is critical to ensuring positive outcomes. However, our findings demonstrate that VA may not be fully aware of the population of veterans with MDD due to a lack of coding precision by clinicians. This can limit VA's ability to assess the Department's performance in treating

⁵⁹See GAO, *Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government*, GAO/AIMD-00-21.3.1 (Washington, D.C.: November 1999).

	veterans as recommended in the MDD CPG and in measuring health outcomes for veterans. Additionally, VA does not have mechanisms in place to ensure that the Department is able to identify deviations from CPG-recommended care and remedy those that could impede veterans' recovery. Even if VA did have mechanisms in place, the coding discrepancies we identified would limit VA's ability to extract accurate data on all veterans diagnosed with MDD, therefore hindering VA's ability to determine the extent to which veterans are receiving care consistent with the CPG recommendations for MDD. The CPG recommendations are meant to improve veteran outcomes by providing maximum relief from the debilitating symptoms of MDD, and VA cannot ensure that the care veterans receive is consistent with those recommendations.
	The existence of incomplete, inaccurate, and inconsistent information submitted through VA's BHAP templates limits the Department's ability to accurately evaluate its suicide prevention efforts and identify trends in veteran suicides through the BHAP initiative. Specifically, data drawn from incomplete, inaccurate, and inconsistent BHAP templates limit the Department's opportunities to learn from past veteran suicides and ultimately diminish efforts to improve its suicide prevention activities. VAMCs, VISNs, and VA Central Office generally lack a process to ensure that the data that are submitted and used by VA Central Office to identify trends in veteran suicides are complete, accurate, and consistent. Checking and verifying the data submitted to VA Central Office would help ensure that changes made to suicide prevention efforts by VAMCs, VISNs, and VA are based on actual trends in veteran suicides. Without clear VA Central Office instructions to guide how VAMCs and VISNs should complete BHAP templates and report suicide data, the validity of suicide data and the effectiveness of VA's actions will be hampered.
Recommendations for Executive Action	We recommend that the Secretary of Veterans Affairs direct the Under Secretary for Health to take the following six actions: To more accurately estimate the prevalence of MDD and identify enrolled
	 identify the extent to which there is imprecise diagnostic coding of MDD by further examining encounters with a diagnostic code of depression not otherwise specified, which could be incorporated into VAMCs' ongoing review of diagnostic coding accuracy, and

	 determine and address the factor(s) contributing to the imprecise coding based on the results of those examinations. For example, feedback and additional training could be provided to clinicians regarding the importance of diagnostic code accuracy, or VA's medical record could be enhanced to facilitate the selection of a more accurate diagnostic code.
	To ensure that veterans are receiving care in accordance with the MDD CPG, VA should
	 implement processes to review data on veterans with MDD prescribed antidepressants to evaluate the level of risk of any deviations from recommended care and remedy those that could impede veterans' recovery.
	To improve VA's efforts to inform its suicide prevention activities, VA should
	 ensure that VAMCs have a process in place to review data on veteran suicides for completeness, accuracy, and consistency before the data are submitted to VA Central Office,
	 clarify guidance on how to complete BHAP templates to ensure that VAMCs are submitting consistent data on veteran suicides, and
	 implement processes to review data on veteran suicides submitted by VAMCs for accuracy and completeness.
Agency Comments	We provided a draft of this report to VA for comment. In its written comments, reproduced in appendix IV, VA generally agreed with our conclusions and concurred with our recommendations. In addition, VA provided information on its plans for implementing each recommendation, with estimated completion dates in calendar year 2015.
	As agreed with your office, unless you publicly announce the contents of this report earlier, we plan no further distribution until 30 days from the report's date. At that time, we will send copies of this report to the appropriate congressional committees; the Secretary of Veterans Affairs; the VA Under Secretary for Health; and other interested parties. In addition, the report will be available at no charge on the GAO website at http://www.gao.gov.

If you or your staff have any questions, please contact me at (202) 512-7114 or williamsonr@gao.gov. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of this report. Major contributors to this report are listed in appendix V.

Sincerely yours,

Rankall BWilliamson

Randall B. Williamson Director, Health Care

Appendix I: Scope and Methodology

Characteristics of Veterans Diagnosed with Major Depressive Disorder (MDD)	To describe the characteristics of veterans diagnosed with MDD from fiscal years 2009 through 2013, we analyzed Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and Department of Defense (DOD) data. (See table 3.) These data included information on veterans' demographic characteristics as well as clinical information on health care services and medications provided through VA. ¹ Veterans were classified as having a diagnosis of MDD if, in at least one fiscal year included in our review, they had two or more outpatient encounters or at least one inpatient hospital stay with a diagnosis of MDD. ²
--	--

¹In general, veterans must enroll in VA health care to receive VA's medical benefits package, a set of services that includes hospital and outpatient services and prescription drugs. Veterans who served in the active military and who were discharged or released under conditions other than dishonorable may be eligible for VA health care. Some non-veterans may also be eligible for VA health care, such as spouses and children of veterans who have been rated permanently and totally disabled for a service-connected disability. We excluded non-veterans from our analysis.

²We identified this approach through discussions with VA clinical and data experts. This approach is consistent with previous GAO work. See, for example, GAO, VA Mental Health: Number of Veterans Receiving Care, Barriers Faced, and Efforts to Increase Access, GAO-12-12 (Washington, D.C.: Oct. 14, 2011).

Table 3: Description of Department of Veterans Affairs and Department of Defense Data Files Used to Examine Characteristics of Veterans with Major Depressive Disorder for Fiscal Years 2009 through 2013

Data files	Description
Demographic files	Includes information extracted from the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Corporate Data Warehouse on veterans' age; date of death, if applicable; sex; race; and ethnicity. The Corporate Data Warehouse is a national data repository comprising data from several VA clinical and administrative systems.
	Information on whether veterans served during recent conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan was obtained from a Department of Defense roster.
Medical SAS Inpatient Datasets, Acute Care Dataset	Includes information on acute care inpatient stays at VA medical centers (VAMC) that last at least 24 hours, including admission and discharge date as well as diagnosis codes. This dataset comprises information on inpatient care that is entered into veterans' electronic medical records by staff at VAMCs.
Fee basis inpatient files ^a	Includes information on certain acute care inpatient stays at non-VAMCs, including admission and discharge dates as well as diagnostic codes. VA pays for these stays at non-VAMCs when VA cannot offer needed care, when a non-VA provider would be economical, or on an emergency basis when travel to a VA facility is medically infeasible. The fee basis inpatient files for each fiscal year are limited to information on inpatient stays at non-VAMCs that were paid for by VA during the corresponding fiscal year.
Outpatient encounter files	Includes information on outpatient services rendered by VA providers, including the date of the services and diagnoses treated. This file comprises information on individual outpatient encounters entered into veterans' electronic medical records by staff at VA medical facilities. Encounters are defined as a professional contact between a patient and a VA provider with responsibility for diagnosing, evaluating, and treating veterans' conditions.
Fee basis outpatient services files ^a	Includes information on certain outpatient care rendered by non-VA providers, including the date of the visit and the reason for the visit. VA pays for these services from non-VA providers when VA cannot offer needed care, when a non-VA provider would be economical, or on an emergency basis when travel to a VA facility is medically infeasible. The fee basis outpatient services files for each fiscal year are limited to information on outpatient encounters that were paid for by VA during the corresponding fiscal year.
Pharmacy Benefits Management prescription database	Includes information on medications ordered by VA providers, including medication name and dosage instructions. The pharmacy database comprises information on medication orders, which are entered into local pharmacy databases by staff at VA medical facilities.
Source: GAO. GAO-15-55	
	^a The two data sets have retained the name fee basis though VA now refers to this type of care as non-VA medical care.
	Specifically, we examined the following:
	• Number of veterans diagnosed with MDD. We used a demographic

- Number of veterans diagnosed with MDD. We used a demographic file provided by VA to determine the number of veterans diagnosed with MDD.
- Characteristics of veterans diagnosed with MDD. We used demographic files provided by VA and DOD to describe characteristics of veterans diagnosed with MDD. In particular, the veteran characteristics we examined included the following:

- Age. We created seven categories for veterans' ages as of September 30, 2013—the end of fiscal year 2013, which corresponds to the last date of data we included in our analysis. These categories are as follows: (a) 18-24, (b) 25-34, (c) 35-44, (d) 45-54, (e) 55-64, (f) 65-74, and (g) 75 and older.
- **Era of service**. We categorized veterans as either being veterans of the recent conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan—Operation Iraqi Freedom, Operation Enduring Freedom, and Operation New Dawn—or of other eras of service.³
- Sex. We categorized veterans as either being female or male.
- **Race and ethnicity**. We created categories to describe veterans' race and ethnicity (Hispanic and non-Hispanic). These categories are consistent with the Office of Management and Budget's 1997 *Standards for Maintaining, Collecting, and Presenting Federal Data on Race and Ethnicity*.⁴
- Extent to which veterans diagnosed with MDD were prescribed at least one antidepressant. Using data from the Pharmacy Benefits Management database, we examined the extent to which VA providers prescribed at least one antidepressant for veterans diagnosed with MDD from fiscal years 2009 through 2013. This includes antidepressants prescribed to treat depression as well as those prescribed to treat other conditions.⁵
- The percentage of veterans with MDD dispensed a 12-week and a 6-month supply of an antidepressant. Using VA data we obtained from the Medical SAS Inpatient Datasets, Acute Care Dataset; Outpatient Encounter Files; Fee Basis Outpatient and Inpatient

³We were not able to further describe veterans by other eras of service, such as Vietnam, because according to a VA official, VA data on era of service are unreliable. DOD roster data was used to determine service in Operation Enduring Freedom, Operation Iraqi Freedom, and Operation New Dawn.

⁴Office of Management and Budget, *Provisional Guidance on the Implementation of the 1997 Standards for Federal Data on Race and Ethnicity* (Washington, D.C.: Dec. 15, 2000).

⁵Antidepressants, like other types of medications, may be used for off-label uses—that is, for a condition or patient population for which the drug has not been approved or in a manner that is inconsistent with information found on the approved drug label. For example, certain antidepressants may be used to treat anxiety and fibromyalgia. See K.J. Stone, A.J. Viera, and C.L. Parman, "Off-Label Applications for SSRIs" *American Family Physician*, vol. 68, no. 3 (2003).

Services Files; and Pharmacy Benefits Management Database, we calculated the percentage of veterans with MDD dispensed a 12-week and a 6-month supply of an antidepressant according to statistical programming logic provided by VA.⁶ These measures are intended to assess the effectiveness of antidepressant medication management and are based on performance measures developed by the National Committee for Quality Assurance.⁷ In addition, these measures are consistent with the VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Major Depressive Disorder, which indicates that continued antidepressant treatment, after acute depressive symptoms have resolved, decreases the incidence of relapse of MDD.⁸

We selected six VA medical centers (VAMC) at the following locations to visit: Canandaigua, New York; Gainesville, Florida; Iowa City, Iowa; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Phoenix, Arizona; and Reno, Nevada.⁹ These VAMCs represent different facility complexity groups, serve populations of veterans that differ in terms of the extent of use of mental health services, and are located in different Veterans Integrated Service Networks (VISN), or regional networks of care.¹⁰ To gather additional perspectives, for each VAMC we visited, we selected one associated community-based outpatient clinic to visit. In particular, we visited community-based outpatient clinics in the following locations: Cedar Rapids, Iowa; Globe, Arizona; Gloucester, New Jersey; Lecanto, Florida; Fallon, Nevada; and Rochester, New York. (See table 4.) As part of our site visits, we

⁸Evidence-Based Practice Work Group. *VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Major Depressive Disorder* (Washington, D.C.: May 2009).

⁹In contrast to the other site visits, which were completed in person, we completed the site visits to the VAMCs located in Gainesville, Florida, and Reno, Nevada, virtually through telephone interviews.

¹⁰VA assigns each VAMC a complexity score between 1 and 3, with level 1 being the most complex, using a facility complexity model. Level 1 is broken down further into 1a, 1b, and 1c. That model uses multiple variables to measure facility complexity arrayed along four categories, namely patient population served, clinical services offered, education and research complexity, and administrative complexity. Each VAMC is assigned to a single VISN.

⁶VA's approach to measuring its performance on these measures uses data regarding care rendered at VA facilities only; however, in order to account for care rendered by non-VA providers but paid for by VA, we incorporated fee basis data.

⁷The National Committee for Quality Assurance's 2013 antidepressant medication management quality measures are known as Effective Acute Phase Treatment and Effective Continuation Phase Treatment.

reviewed a nongeneralizeable sample of five medical records for each of these six VAMCs for a total of 30 veterans.¹¹ We reviewed these medical records to determine if the diagnostic code entered for all encounters—starting with the initial encounter in 2012 when the veteran was diagnosed with MDD and prescribed an antidepressant—was consistent with a diagnosis of MDD.

Table 4: Characteristics of Veterans Affairs Medical Centers (VAMC) and Community-Based Outpatient Clinics Selected for GAO's Review

VAMC location	Facility complexity group, 2011	Percentage of veterans that used mental health services, 2012 (above or below average)	Veterans Integrated Service Network (VISN)	Community-based outpatient clinic location
Canandaigua, New York	3	24.6 (above)	2	Rochester, New York
Gainesville, Florida ^a	1a	22.2 (below)	8	Lecanto, Florida ^a
Iowa City, Iowa	1c	16.7 (below)	23	Cedar Rapids, Iowa
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania	1b	28.3 (above)	4	Gloucester, New Jersey
Phoenix, Arizona	1c	24.3 (above)	18	Globe, Arizona
Reno, Nevada ^a	2	22.4 (below)	21	Fallon, Nevada ^a

Source: GAO analysis of VA data. | GAO-15-55

Note: The Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) assigns each VAMC a complexity score between 1 and 3, with level 1 being the most complex, using a facility complexity model. Level 1 is broken down further into 1a, 1b, and 1c. That model uses multiple variables to measure facility complexity arrayed along four categories, namely patient population served, clinical services offered, education and research complexity, and administrative complexity. Each VAMC is assigned to a single regional network of care, called a VISN.

^aIn contrast to the other site visits, which were conducted in person, we conducted a virtual site visit via telephone interviews to these locations.

To select medical records for review, we completed the following steps:

- Randomly generated a list of individuals with a new prescription for an antidepressant in calendar year 2012.
- Selected the first five individuals in the list that met the following inclusion criteria:
 - Veteran status.
 - Had a diagnosis of MDD in calendar year 2012. For the purposes of medical record reviews, we classified a veteran as having a

¹¹We use the phrase medical records to refer to electronic medical records.

	diagnosis of MDD if, based on how the veteran's patient care encounters were coded or on the narrative contained in clinical notes in the veteran's medical record, the veteran had (a) at least two outpatient encounters with a diagnosis of MDD, or (b) at least one inpatient stay with a diagnosis of MDD. ¹²
	 Had a new treatment episode of antidepressants in calendar year 2012. New treatment episodes were defined as an initiation of antidepressant treatment following a period during which the veteran was either (1) not prescribed an antidepressant or (2) noncompliant with and had not picked up prescriptions for a previously prescribed antidepressant.
	To ensure the reliability of the data we analyzed, we interviewed VA Central Office officials, reviewed relevant documentation and veterans' medical records, and conducted electronic testing to identify missing data and obvious errors. On the basis of these activities, we determined that the data we analyzed were sufficiently reliable for our purposes. However, as discussed in the report, we described limitations of the data due to the coding discrepancies we found.
VA's Oversight of the Extent to Which Veterans with MDD Prescribed Antidepressants Are Receiving Care As Recommended in the CPG	To examine the extent to which VAMCs are providing care to veterans with MDD who are prescribed antidepressants as recommended in the CPG, we reviewed relevant VA policy documents. On the basis of that review, we found that VA policy requires all care sites, VAMCs, and community-based outpatient clinics to provide evidence-based antidepressant treatment when indicated for depression and that such care must be consistent with current VA clinical practice guidelines. ¹³ The relevant VA clinical practice guideline, the VA/DOD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Major Depressive Disorder, provides evidence-based recommendations for providers on how to monitor veterans prescribed antidepressants; these recommendations are based on a review of depression research outcomes. These recommendations are based on available research at the time of publication of the guideline and are intended to provide information to assist providers in treatment

¹²This approach for classifying veterans as having MDD is consistent with the approach used for the purposes of our data analysis, which we identified in discussions with VA.

¹³Veterans Health Administration Handbook 1160.01, *Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics* (Sept. 11, 2008).

decision-making.¹⁴ From the guideline's recommendations related to monitoring veterans prescribed antidepressants, we judgmentally selected three recommendations for inclusion in our review. In particular, we selected recommendations that (1) had among the highest strength of research evidence, (2) were sufficiently specific to enable us to determine the extent to which VA providers were following the recommendation, and (3) would not require clinical judgment to determine the extent to which VA providers were following the recommendation. The following recommendations were included in our review:

- To enhance antidepressant treatment, veterans should be educated on when to take the medication, possible side effects, risks, and the expected duration of treatment, among other things;
- Standardized assessments of depressive symptoms, such as the Patient Health Questionnaire-9, should be used to monitor treatment response at 4-6 weeks after initiation of treatment, after each change in treatment, and periodically thereafter until full remission is achieved; and
- A plan should be developed that addresses the duration of antidepressant treatment, among other things.

After selecting these recommendations for our review, we examined the extent to which veterans were receiving care consistent with these CPG recommendations at the six VAMCs we visited.¹⁵ To do this, we interviewed VAMC clinicians to determine whether and how they were following these recommendations. At each VAMC, officials interviewed included members of the executive leadership team, primary care and mental health providers, and pharmacists.¹⁶

¹⁴Although the guideline is not intended to define a standard of care, through policy, VA has set an expectation that providers follow the guideline's recommendations.

¹⁵For the purposes of this report, we refer to VAMCs to include community-based outpatient clinics.

¹⁶We also interviewed primary care and mental health providers at each community-based outpatient clinic.

Additionally, as part of our examination of the extent to which VAMCs are providing care consistent with the selected guideline recommendations. we reviewed the sample of five veterans' medical records per VAMC used as part of our review of MDD coding. For each medical record, we reviewed documentation contained in the selected veterans' medical records to assess the extent to which the antidepressant treatmentrelated care VA providers rendered was consistent with the selected CPG recommendations included in our review. Our review commenced with the encounter during which a VA clinician ordered an antidepressant to treat depressive symptoms. Our review ended after five follow-up encounters with a VA clinician, or sooner if the veteran did not have five follow-up encounters. Our review was limited to encounters during which the antidepressant treatment was reviewed, including encounters during which side effects and treatment effect were assessed, but no change was made to medication orders. We did not include, for example, an encounter with an orthopedist during which the fact that the veteran had been prescribed an antidepressant was simply noted. We provided the VAMCs with the instances where we found the medical record documentation was not consistent with the selected CPG recommendations. The VAMCs confirmed our answers or provided additional support if they believed the care was consistent with the CPG.

To examine VA's oversight of the care VAMCs provide to veterans with MDD who are prescribed an antidepressant, we reviewed VA's oversight of the *Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics* handbook and CPG requirements and evaluated whether this oversight provides VA with adequate information to identify nonconformance with recommended practices, assess the risk of any nonconformance, and address nonconformance, as appropriate.¹⁷ As part of this review, we reviewed VA's oversight in the context of federal standards for internal control for risk assessment.¹⁸ The internal control for risk assess the possible effect, if any, and determine what actions should be taken to mitigate significant risks.

¹⁷Veterans Health Administration Handbook 1160.01, *Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics* (Sept. 11, 2008).

¹⁸See GAO, *Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government*, GAO/AIMD-00-21.3.1 (Washington, D.C.: November 1999) and GAO, *Internal Control Management and Evaluation Tool*, GAO-01-1008G (Washington, D.C.: August 2001).

	We then interviewed officials from VA Central Office, including officials from the Office of Mental Health Services (OMHS), the Office of Mental Health Operations, and the Office of Analytics and Business Intelligence; and the six VISNs that oversee the VAMCs we visited who are responsible for overseeing compliance with VA's requirements, including VA's requirement that all VA facilities provide evidence-based antidepressant treatment when indicated for depression and that such care be consistent with current VA clinical practice guidelines. Through our interviews, we obtained information on the oversight activities conducted by VA Central Office and the extent to which VA Central Office followed up with VAMCs to ensure that they corrected problems identified through these oversight activities. In addition, we obtained and reviewed relevant documents regarding VA oversight, including internal reports and VAMCs' plans to correct problems identified through oversight activities.
Information VA Requires VAMCs to Collect on Veteran Suicides	To analyze the information VA requires VAMCs to collect on veteran suicides, we first reviewed VA policies, guidance, and documents related to VA's suicide prevention efforts to identify the mechanisms by which VA collects veteran suicide data from VAMCs. We also interviewed VA Central Office and other officials responsible for VA's suicide prevention program, including officials from OMHS and the Center of Excellence for Suicide Prevention. We also interviewed VAMC officials and relevant staff of the six VISNs for the sites we visited to obtain information on suicide prevention initiatives.
	Next, through the site visits to six VAMCs, we obtained documents and interviewed officials regarding the collection of veteran suicide data. We obtained all completed templates from the Behavioral Health Autopsy Program (BHAP) related to VA's collection of data on veterans that died by suicide as of the time of our site visit or at the time we requested the documents for virtual site visits. ¹⁹ One VAMC had not completed any of these BHAP documents because they had not had a veteran die by suicide since the beginning of the program. Therefore, our analysis includes a review of documents, we noted any fields missing data, such as a field that requires a yes or no answer but neither answer is provided.

¹⁹One template had been completed as of the time of our site visit, but had not been received by VA Central Office; therefore, we did not include this template in our review.

Additionally, using professional judgment, we identified fields in the documents to review based on whether the field related to aspects of VA treatment—including treatment for mental health conditions—and the date of the veteran's death.²⁰ We identified these fields because they did not require clinical judgment to assess. Using the parameters in the corresponding guide for filling out these documents, including time frames, we compared these fields to information included in the veteran's medical record and noted differences between our answers and the answers provided by the VAMCs in the documents.

To ensure that we received the final, submitted versions, we also requested these documents from VA Central Office for each of the five VAMCs. We compared these documents to the documents we received from the VAMCs. We used the documents from the VAMCs as the starting point; therefore, we only analyzed the templates for veterans identified by the VAMCs.²¹ During the course of our review we learned that the template for these documents had changed over time. If additional fields were included in the templates obtained from VA Central Office, but were not originally included in the templates obtained from the VAMCs, we did not review these fields. We generally used the answer from the document obtained from VA Central Office, which is the final submitted version, unless a field originally had an answer in the template from VA Central Office. In those cases, we used the answer from the VAMC

We provided the VAMCs with the fields where the answers in the VAMC's documents did not match our answers based on our review of the medical record. The VAMCs confirmed our answers or provided additional support for their original answer. Results from our review of veteran suicide data can be generalized to the VAMCs we visited, but cannot be generalized to other VAMCs.

²⁰Aspects of treatment paid for by VA, but rendered by non-VA providers (non-VA care) were not included in the scope of this review.

²¹We received additional templates from VA Central Office, but these were not analyzed because the VAMC had not provided us with templates for these veterans.

We conducted this performance audit from November 2013 to November 2014 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Appendix II: Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Centers' Tracking of Veterans at High Risk for Suicide

The Department of Veterans Affairs' (VA) *Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics* handbook (Handbook) requires VA medical centers (VAMC) to have a suicide prevention coordinator whose responsibilities include establishing and maintaining a list of veterans assessed to be at high risk for suicide and monitoring these veterans.¹ The Handbook also requires suicide prevention coordinators to ensure that providers follow up on missed appointments for high-risk veterans to ensure patient safety and in order to initiate problem-solving about any tensions or difficulties in the veteran's ongoing care.

Whether a veteran is determined to be at high risk for suicide is based on clinical judgment made after an evaluation of risk factors—such as history of past suicide attempts or recent discharge from an inpatient mental health unit—protective factors—such as positive social support, positive coping skills, and positive therapeutic relationships—and the presence or absence of warning signs. Indicators that a veteran is at high risk for suicide include a current verified report or witnessed suicide attempt; identification of current serious suicidal ideation that requires an immediate change in the treatment plan, such as hospitalization; and the presence of any of the following warning signs: threatening to hurt or plan to kill oneself; looking for specific ways to kill oneself and seeking access to such means, such as pills or weapons; and talking or writing about death, dying, or suicide when these actions are out of the ordinary for the person.

The Handbook requires each VAMC to have a process for establishing a patient record flag to help ensure that veterans determined to be at high risk for suicide are provided with follow up for all missed mental health and substance abuse appointments. The primary purpose of the patient record flag is to communicate to staff that a veteran is at high risk for suicide and VA policy states that the presence of a flag should be considered when making treatment decisions. Suicide prevention coordinators are responsible for assessing, in conjunction with the treating clinician, the risk of suicide in individual veterans, ensuring these veterans have a "High Risk for Suicide" Patient Record Flag on their medical record, and reviewing the list of high-risk veterans at least every 90 days.

¹Veterans Health Administration Handbook 1160.01, *Uniform Mental Health Services in VA Medical Centers and Clinics* (Sept. 11, 2008).

We interviewed suicide prevention coordinators as part of our site visits with six VAMCs to obtain information on how they track veterans determined to be at high risk for suicide. At four of the VAMCs we visited, suicide prevention coordinators used an electronic spreadsheet to track information on these veterans. For example, the spreadsheets include information such as whether the veteran has a patient record flag on their medical record and when the flag needs to be reviewed, the date for the veteran's next scheduled follow-up appointment, whether the veteran has a safety plan, and the veteran's assigned psychiatrist.² Officials from one VAMC told us that they maintain the list daily, adding and removing veterans as necessary. Officials stated that the circumstances under which a veteran would be removed from the spreadsheet varied, but veterans are generally removed because their patient record flag has been removed and the officials no longer consider the veteran to be at high risk for suicide.

The two remaining VAMCs use other mechanisms to track veterans at high risk for suicide. Officials from one VAMC told us that they use the Suicide Prevention Application Network (SPAN) to guery high-risk patients at the VAMC. The SPAN database contains veteran information. demographic characteristics, and information on suicide attempts and completed suicides, among other things. According to officials, the information for each veteran in SPAN includes the date the veteran was assessed as being at high risk, as well as the date that the veteran needs to be seen for follow up, if applicable. After our site visit, officials told us they plan to periodically pull a list of all veterans with an active high risk flag in VA's medical record for the VAMC and cross-reference that list to veterans being tracked for high suicide risk by the suicide prevention coordinator in SPAN to ensure all high-risk veterans are tracked. Officials from the other VAMC told us that their case managers each have their own list of veterans that they track and the suicide prevention coordinator we spoke with stated that he does not keep a master list of all veterans that are at high risk for suicide.³

²A safety plan is a prioritized written list of coping strategies and sources of support, such as individuals or agencies the veteran can contact, for the veteran to use during or preceding suicidal crisis in order to help lower the veteran's imminent risk of suicidal behavior. According to VA Central Office officials, the plan is created with clinician, veteran, and family interaction.

³Officials at this VAMC told us that their case managers are responsible for monitoring veterans flagged as being at high risk for suicide.

Appendix III: Department of Veterans Affairs' Use of Data Related to Suicides and Suicide Behavior

Veterans Affairs medical centers (VAMC) collect and submit data on veteran suicides to the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Central Office through the Suicide Prevention Application Network (SPAN) and suicide behavior reports.¹ VAMCs also collect and report data through root cause analyses.² Additionally, VA Central Office uses the data from SPAN to prepare reports that are sent to the VAMCs and Veterans Integrated Service Networks (VISN).³ VA Central Office officials stated that they expect VAMCs and VISNs to use these reports and collected data to improve suicide prevention efforts and program evaluation. Through site visits at six VAMCs that we conducted as part of our review and through interviews with corresponding VISN officials, we identified examples of how some VAMCs and VISNs are utilizing veteran suicide data to improve their suicide prevention efforts.

- VAMC and VISN officials have used SPAN to create initiatives based on trends in the data. For example,
 - Officials at one VAMC stated that they use the information collected in SPAN to provide data for performing statistical analyses on the outreach conducted, to study suicide attempts and completions across the VAMC catchment area, to understand the means by which veterans are dying by suicide, and to study the use of high-risk flags.
 - Officials at a VISN explained that through a review of the SPAN data about a year ago, officials learned that 60 percent of suicides in the VISN were completed using a gun. After conducting research on the subject, the VISN began a firearm safety initiative, which includes notifying veterans by mail that they can receive four gun locks each upon request, with no questions asked.

³VISNs are regional networks of care. Each VAMC is assigned to a single VISN.

¹SPAN includes information on veterans, such as the number of suicide completions, the number of non-fatal suicide attempts, and other indicators of suicide prevention efforts. VAMC clinicians must complete a suicide behavior report when they learn that a veteran exhibited self-harming behavior and include that report in the respective veteran's medical record.

²Root cause analyses are used to identify the factors that contributed to adverse events or close calls and to identify any steps VAMCs could implement to prevent similar events in the future. Root cause analyses are completed under certain circumstances, such as when the act occurs during a VAMC inpatient stay or within 72 hours of being discharged from inpatient care.

- VAMC officials have made programmatic changes to their suicide prevention efforts based on trends in the suicide data they are collecting and reviewing. For example,
 - At one VAMC, officials told us that they reviewed suicide behavior reports and, as a result of trends identified in these reports, drafted a policy for medication restriction for veterans at risk of overdosing. Specifically, over a 3-year period, five or six veterans receiving VA care repeatedly attempted suicide by overdose, typically when they were intoxicated. VAMC officials created a work group to draft policy that mitigates risk for medication overdose among high-risk veterans. At the time of our site visit, the group was exploring creating a patient record flag that would be included in the veteran's medical record for overdose risk indicating that medication supplies should be restricted for these veterans and the possibility of using automated pill dispensers to dispense medications to these veterans.
 - Through their work reviewing suicide-related information, the suicide prevention team at another VAMC identified a trend in its suicide data. In particular, they noted that some veterans were given a 90-day supply of the same medications that the veteran recently tried to use to overdose. The suicide prevention team mentioned this to a clinical pharmacist who had also noticed this issue. The VAMC is now trying to restrict days of supply for these types of veterans, but there is no formal policy about this and no plans to craft such a policy. Additionally, officials from this VAMC stated that they have added items to the standardized suicide behavior report template to help them to collect additional useful information, such as active medications and pain score at the time of the last visit.
 - Officials from one VAMC stated that through a review of medical records and autopsy reports for veterans who died by suicide, they found that a vast majority of veterans who died by suicide were not being seen by a mental health provider. In response, officials provided education to primary care providers. VAMC officials also noticed that veterans receiving care for pain were dying by suicide at a high rate. As a result, the VAMC has started an initiative with the pain clinic, and, as part of this initiative, the chief of the pain management clinic consults with psychiatry on veterans at risk for suicide.
- Officials at a VISN described changes made in response to the suicide data in fiscal year 2012, which showed that a percentage of veterans who completed suicide had no ongoing mental health care.

These veterans mainly received care from VA primary care providers. To address this, the VISN partnered with the Center of Excellence for Suicide Prevention and local university psychologists to help VA primary care providers at community-based outpatient clinics formulate mental health plans.

Appendix IV: Comments from the Department of Veterans Affairs

		OF VETERANS AFFA IGTON DC 20420	AIRS	
	Octo	ber 21, 2014		
Mr. Randall B. V				
Director, Health U.S. Governmer 441 G Street, N Washington, DC	nt Accountability Office W			
Dear Mr. Willian	nson:			
Accountability C Needed in Mon Increasing Acc conclusions and	artment of Veterans Affa Office's (GAO) draft repor hitoring Antidepressant curacy of Suicide Data' d concurs with GAO's rec osure specifically addres each. VA appreciates the	rt, "VA HEALTH CA t Use for Major Dep ? (GAO-15-55). VA commendations to the sees GAO's recommendations to the	ARE: Improve pressive Diso generally agre he Department hendations and	ements rder and in es with GAO's :. provides an
		Sincerely,		
		Jose D. Riojas Chief of Staff	as	
Enclosure				
		,		
				,







Appendix V: GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments

GAO Contact	Randall B. Williamson, (202) 512-7114, williamsonr@gao.gov.
Staff Acknowledgments	In addition to the contact named above, Marcia A. Mann, Assistant Director; Emily Binek; Muriel Brown; Stella Chiang; Cathleen Hamann; Melanie Krause; Daniel Lee; Lisa Opdycke; Sarah Resavy; and Jennifer Whitworth made key contributions to this report.

GAO's Mission	The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability.
Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony	The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through GAO's website (http://www.gao.gov). Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. To have GAO e-mail you a list of newly posted products, go to http://www.gao.gov and select "E-mail Updates."
Order by Phone	The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, http://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm.
	Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537.
	Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information.
Connect with GAO	Connect with GAO on Facebook, Flickr, Twitter, and YouTube. Subscribe to our RSS Feeds or E-mail Updates. Listen to our Podcasts. Visit GAO on the web at www.gao.gov.
To Report Fraud,	Contact:
Waste, and Abuse in Federal Programs	Website: http://www.gao.gov/fraudnet/fraudnet.htm E-mail: fraudnet@gao.gov Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454 or (202) 512-7470
Congressional Relations	Katherine Siggerud, Managing Director, siggerudk@gao.gov, (202) 512- 4400, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7125, Washington, DC 20548
Public Affairs	Chuck Young, Managing Director, youngc1@gao.gov, (202) 512-4800 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7149 Washington, DC 20548